
A Joint Powers Organization of the Cities of Eagan and Inver Grove Heights 
3830 Pilot Knob Road, Eagan, MN 55122-1810 

Phone: (651) 675-5300 

AGENDA 
BOARD OF MANAGERS MEETING 

August 19, 2025 at 5:30 P.M.   

Eagan Maintenance Facility 
3501 Coachman Point, Eagan, MN 55122 

1. Call to Order

2. Approval of Agenda

3. Consent Agenda

3.1. Minutes June 17, 2025*

3.2. Invoices for Payment*

3.3. 2025 Year-to-Date Financial Summary*

4. Watershed Plan Update

5. New Business

5.1. 2024 Audit Review and Approval*

5.2. 2025 Communication and Outreach Plan

5.2.1. Outreach Campaign Follow-Up (Professional Ad Campaign)* 

5.2.2. Outreach, Library Exhibit Update 

5.2.3. Outreach, IGH Days & Business Expo, Sept 2-7 & Sunday, September 7.   

5.2.4. Outreach, Public Lands Day (Lebannon Hills) Saturday, September 27, 2025 

5.2.5. CLIMB Theater (No word) 

5.3. Request for Proposal Legal Services* 

6. Community Updates

7. Adjournment

*Included in Packet



EAGAN-INVER GROVE HEIGHTS WATERSHED MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

Eagan Maintenance Facility 
June 17, 2025 

1. Call to Order

Chair Jennifer Workman-Jesness called meeting to order at 5:41pm.

Present: Chair Jennifer Workman-Jesness (Eagan), Vice Chair Kathleen Reitz (Eagan),
Monica Foss (Eagan), Steven Errrante (Inver Grove Heights)

Others: Paul Merchlewicz (Inver Grove Heights), Nicole Portugal (Inver Grove Heights),
Victoria Ranua (E-IGHWMO), Gregg Thompson (Eagan), and Lisa Tilman (Stantec)

2. Approval of Agenda

A motion by Errante to approve the agenda.  Second by Reitz.  Motion carried
unanimously.

3. Consent Agenda

A motion by Errante to approve the consent agenda.  Second by Reitz.  Motion carried
unanimously.

4. Watershed Plan Update

Stantec presented the results of the recent public community survey, an updated draft
of the Issues and Goals section, and a preliminary draft of the Implementation Plan for
the Watershed Plan update. Within the Issues and Goals section, the Board noted that
the priorities subsection required further refinement and development.

To support the review process, Stantec offered to set up a centralized document-sharing
platform for the draft Watershed Plan. This platform would allow for consolidated edits
and comments, and would track whether suggested changes are incorporated.

Stantec anticipates having a complete draft of the Watershed Plan ready for the August
Board meeting, which will mark the beginning of the formal review process.

5. New Business
5.1 Report, Eagan Water Quality Monitoring Trends 1991-2024 

5.2 2025 Communication and Outreach Plan 

5.2.1 Outreach, Library Exhibit Update 

3.1



The WMO’s “Don’t Feed the Algae” exhibit is on display at Wescott Library through the 
end of June, which replaced an earlier WMO exhibit of "Pollute and Protect" (aligning 
with the Library's Earth Day theme) in April and May. 

5.2.2 CLIMB Theatre Review 

At the previous meeting, the Board requested feedback from teachers 
regarding the recent CLIMB Theatre performance. In response, Administrator 
Ranua contacted Glacier Hills Elementary, one of the schools listed on the 
latest invoice. The school reported that CLIMB Theatre had not visited, a fact 
later confirmed by CLIMB Theatre, who indicated a visit was planned. 
However, no further communication has been received, and the school year 
has since ended. 

Administrator Ranua also noted that, according to bank records, CLIMB 
Theatre has not cashed the $2,000 check issued for the invoiced services. 

Errante moved to place a stop payment on the $2,000 check to CLIMB 
Theatre due to the lack of confirmation that services were provided. Reitz 
seconded the motion. Motion carried unanimously. 

6. Community Updates

Inver Grove Heights reported on a recent MS4 presentation given by Joe Barten of the
Dakota County Soil and Water Conservation District. The city also hosted a Touch-a-
Truck event, which featured a well-received pet waste education table led by Portugal.

Eagan reported that the filter at Carlson Lake will be replaced after three years of use, at
a cost of $30,000. The city participated in two Lawns Re-Imagined workshops—one held
in Eagan and another in Rosemount—with strong attendance by Eagan residents at both
events.

Eagan’s Big Rig Rally in May drew over 1,400 attendees, with City water staff hosting an
outreach table. The City also launched its first Lake Night event of the year. Additionally,
Lake LaMay is slated to receive a new T-shaped fishing pier at Moonshine Park.

7. Adjournment

A motion by Errante to adjourn meet.  Second by Foss.  Motion carried unanimously.
Meeting adjourned at 7:30 pm.

3.1



EAGAN-INVER GROVE HEIGHTS WATERSHED MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

Eagan Maintenance Facility 
June 17, 2025 

Respectfully submitted, 

Victoria Ranua 
Administrator 

Approved by Board 
XX/XX/2025 

3.1



INVOICE Page 1 of 2

Invoice Number 2416903
Invoice Date June 27, 2025
Purchase Order 227707496
Customer Number 1312103
Project Number 227707496

Bill To
Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Water 
Management Organization
Victoria Ranua 
4100 220th Street 
Suite 102 
Farmington  MN 55024
United States 

EFT/ACH Remit To (Preferred)
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (SCSI)
Bank of America 
ABA No. : 111000012
Account No: 3752096026
Email Remittance: eft@stantec.com 

Alternative Remit To
Stantec Consulting Services 
Inc. (SCSI)
13980 Collections Center Drive 
Chicago  IL 60693 
United States  

Project 2nd Generation Watershed Management Plan
Project Manager Spector, Diane F Contract Upset 47,729.00

Amount Billed to Date 37,620.84
For Period Ending June 20, 2025

Current Invoice Total (USD) 8,772.50

Top Task 100 Stakeholder Input
Professional Services

Category/Employee
Current 

Hours Rate
Current 
Amount

Neumiller, Grace Catherine 21.50 133.00  2,859.50
Frett, Michael W 9.50 158.00  1,501.00
Tilman, Elizabeth (Lisa) 11.75 196.00  2,303.00

Subtotal Professional Services 42.75 6,663.50

Top Task Subtotal Stakeholder Input 6,663.50

Top Task 200 Plan Update & Review
Professional Services

Category/Employee
Current 

Hours Rate
Current 
Amount

Neumiller, Grace Catherine 0.50 133.00  66.50
Frett, Michael W 11.50 158.00  1,817.00
Sundeen, Riley Allan 0.50 170.00  85.00
Tilman, Elizabeth (Lisa) 0.50 196.00  98.00

Subtotal Professional Services 13.00 2,066.50

Top Task Subtotal Plan Update & Review 2,066.50

Top Task 400 Project Management
Professional Services

Category/Employee
Current 

Hours Rate
Current 
Amount

Trouten, Brookner 0.25 170.00  42.50

3.2



INVOICE Page 2 of 2

Invoice Number 2416903
Invoice Date June 27, 2025
Purchase Order 227707496
Customer Number 1312103
Project Number 227707496

Subtotal Professional Services 0.25 42.50

Top Task Subtotal Project Management 42.50

Total Fees & Disbursements 8,772.50
INVOICE TOTAL (USD) 8,772.50

Net Due in 30 Days or in accordance with terms of the contract
 Stantec will not change our banking information. If you receive a request noting our banking information has changed, 

please contact your Stantec Project Manager 

3.2



INVOICE Page 1 of 1

Invoice Number 2428190
Invoice Date July 23, 2025
Purchase Order 227707496
Customer Number 1312103
Project Number 227707496

Bill To
Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Water 
Management Organization
Victoria Ranua 
4100 220th Street 
Suite 102 
Farmington  MN 55024
United States 

EFT/ACH Remit To (Preferred)
Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (SCSI)
Bank of America 
ABA No. : 111000012
Account No: 3752096026
Email Remittance: eft@stantec.com 

Alternative Remit To
Stantec Consulting Services 
Inc. (SCSI)
13980 Collections Center Drive 
Chicago  IL 60693 
United States  

Project 2nd Generation Watershed Management Plan
Project Manager Spector, Diane F Contract Upset 47,729.00

Amount Billed to Date 43,740.84
For Period Ending July 18, 2025

Current Invoice Total (USD) 6,120.00

Top Task 100 Stakeholder Input
Professional Services

Category/Employee
Current 

Hours Rate
Current 
Amount

Neumiller, Grace Catherine 25.00 133.00  3,325.00
Frett, Michael W 3.00 158.00  474.00
Tilman, Elizabeth (Lisa) 9.75 196.00  1,911.00

Subtotal Professional Services 37.75 5,710.00

Top Task Subtotal Stakeholder Input 5,710.00

Top Task 200 Plan Update & Review
Professional Services

Category/Employee
Current 

Hours Rate
Current 
Amount

Neumiller, Grace Catherine 2.00 133.00  266.00
Wavrin, Thomas 1.00 144.00  144.00

Subtotal Professional Services 3.00 410.00

Top Task Subtotal Plan Update & Review 410.00

6,120.00Total Fees & Disbursements 

Net Due in 30 Days or in accordance with terms of the contract
 Stantec will not change our banking information. If you receive a request noting our banking information has changed, 

please contact your Stantec Project Manager 

INVOICE TOTAL (USD) 5,322.00
Credit Frm INVC 2387399 (798.00)

3.2



Invoice
DATE

7/1/2025

INVOICE #

3471

BILL TO

Eagan-Inver Grove Heights WMO
C/O Jenna Olson
3501 Coachman Point Road
Eagan, MN  55122

Dakota County Soil & Water
Conservation District
4100 220th Street West, Ste 102
Farmington, MN  55024
(651) 480-7777
DakotaSWCD.Accounting@CO.Dakota.MN.US

BILLING PERIOD

Apr - Jun 2025

TERMS

Net 30 Days

AGREEMENT

2025 Agreement

It's been a pleasure working with you! Total

DESCRIPTION HRS/COUNT RATE AMOUNT

ADMINISTRATION
Financial Reports, Board Meeting Preparation, Annual Report, Audit, 
and General Correspondence.

47 100.00 4,700.00

Watershed Plan Updates 46.5 100.00 4,650.00
Fee:  Printing and Postage 1 25.00 25.00
Fees: 0 0.00 0.00

EDUCATION AND OUTREACH
Website Maintenance:  Board packets, links, and reports 5 100.00 500.00
Fee: Website Hosting 0 0.00 0.00
Advocacy and Outreach:  Industrial Property O 0.5 100.00 50.00
Landscaping for Clean Water Intro Class 1 2,000.00 2,000.00
Landscaping for Clean Water Design Class 1 4,000.00 4,000.00
Landscaping for Clean Water Maintenance Workshop 0 2,000.00 0.00
Lawns Reimagined Workshop 1 3,000.00 3,000.00

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE
Landscaping for Clean Water Technical Assistance: 0 600.00 0.00

COST SHARE
Landscaping for Clean Water Grants: 0 250.00 0.00

$18,925.00

3.2



General Fund 1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr 2024 TYD 2024 Budget Remaining % Utilized
Revenues:
Member Allocations 52,000.00$    52,000.00$   52,000.00$     -$                  100%
Interest Income -$                -$  -$  0%
Use of Restricted Fund Balance 15,537.00$       27,561.84$    5,322.00$      -$                 48,420.84$   66,970.00$     18,549.16$     72%
Total Revenues: 15,537.00$       27,561.84$    57,322.00$    -$                 100,420.84$ 118,970.00$   18,549.16$     84%

Expenses:
Work Program

A. File Annual Activity Report, Finance Report and Audit 40.00$            40.00$           4,000.00$       3,960.00$       1%
B. Publish/Distribute Annual Newsletter or Communication 25.00$            25.00$           300.00$           275.00$           8%
C. Web Site 1,150.00$         500.00$         1,650.00$      1,000.00$       (650.00)$         165%
D. Board Education -$                500.00$           500.00$           0%
E. Implement Watershed Plan

1. Support Existing Programs (LCW, CLIMB, MWS) 2,000.00$         9,000.00$      11,000.00$   26,200.00$     15,200.00$     42%
2. WMO Education and Outreach Programs (+LRI) 800.00$            50.00$            850.00$         4,000.00$       3,150.00$       21%
3. Water Conservation Marketing Campaign -$                7,500.00$       7,500.00$       0%

Organizational Administration
Staff Services (general) 6,425.00$         4,700.00$      11,125.00$   22,000.00$     10,875.00$     51%
Engineering and Consulting Services (general) 87.00$               87.00$           3,000.00$       2,913.00$       3%
Legal Consulting Services (general) -$                500.00$           500.00$           0%

Watershed Plan - RESTRICTED FUNDS
Consulting Services 15,537.00$       22,911.84$    5,322.00$      43,770.84$   49,970.00$     6,199.16$       88%
Adminstrative Services 4,650.00$      4,650.00$      -$                  4,650.00$       

Total Expenses: 25,999.00$       41,876.84$    -$                -$  73,197.84$   118,970.00$   45,772.16$     

Net Surplus / (-) Deficit (10,462.00)$     (14,315.00)$  57,322.00$    -$                 27,223.00$   -$                  

2025
E-IGH Watershed Management Organization

Revenue and Expense Summary

3.3



Assets
Cash in Checking $122,501.58
Cash in Savings 1.00$              

Total Cash: 122,502.58$  

Accounts Receivable -$                
Total Assets: 122,502.58$  

Liabilities and Equity
Accounts Payable 33,019.50$    

Equity
General Fund Balance January 1 50,650.92$    
Fund Balance Reserved for WP 11,579.16$    
Net Surplus / (-) Deficit 27,223.00$    
Total Equity: 89,453.08$    

Total Liabilities and Equity: 122,472.58$  

Balance Sheet

E-IGH Watershed Management Organization
2025

3.3



 

1 
 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REPORT 
MEETING DATE: August 18, 2025 
AGENDA ITEM: 4.0 
PREPARED BY: Victoria Ranua, Administrator 

PRESENTED BY: Victoria Ranua, Administrator 
Lisa Tilman, Stantec 

AGENDA ITEM: Watershed Planning Update 
GOAL AREA & OBJECTIVE Watershed Planning 

 
BACKGROUND:   The E-IGH WMO initiated its Watershed Management Plan update in 2024, 
selecting Stantec as the consultant in November 2024. An initial planning meeting was held in 
February 2025. In April 2025, the scope was expanded to enhance outreach and engagement 
efforts with various stakeholders. 
 
From June 24 to July 25, 2025 (31 days), stakeholders were given access to a SharePoint site to 
provide informal comments on the draft plan. Stantec also used this platform to track and begin 
responding to those comments. 
 
On August 8, 2025 — 14 days after the close of the comment period — Stantec informed staff 
that the volume and nature of comments received raised concerns. Specifically, they indicated 
that: 

• Some comments suggest revisions that Stantec believes may fall outside the original 
scope of work; and 

• They were uncertain how to proceed with certain changes without further Board or staff 
input. 

 
Stantec has indicated that they may need to revise their proposal and budget to address the 
extent of the comments received and requested plan revisions. 
 
Staff are continuing to work with Stantec to: 

• Identify which comments are within the current scope and should be incorporated; 
• Flag any comments that may require Board direction or scope modifications; 
• Clarify alignment between BWSR requirements and the WMO’s statutory/desired role. 

 
A revised timeline for formal plan submittal is being developed. 
 
BUDGET IMPACT: To be determined, pending either: 

• Stantec’s proposed adjustments to the scope and associated cost, or 
• Administrator time and cost, if the decision is made to address out-of-scope comments 

internally. 
 



 

2 
 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION:  Motion to approve a special E-IGH WMO Board meeting on 
Tuesday, September 16, 2025, to review the revised draft Watershed Management Plan and 
determine next steps for formal submittal. 
 
ATTACHMENT:  Email from Stantec, dated August 8, 2025 – Subject: Watershed Plan Update 
Informal Comments 
 
   



From: Tilman, Lisa
To: Ranua, Victoria
Cc: Spector, Diane; Barten, Joe; Neumiller, Grace
Subject: RE: Watershed Plan Update
Date: Friday, August 8, 2025 4:44:06 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image007.png
Eagan-Inver Grove Heights_WMP_2026_Full_Plan_DRAFT_08052025_WMOcopy.docx

Victoria,
 
I attached our working draft from earlier this afternoon. There are 216 comments from reviewers. We
started going through comments from the top of the document. I added comments to direct Grace on how
to address reviewer comments and noted the review comment as resolved if a response was added.
 
While these aren’t yet addressed in the attached document, in reviewing comments on the plan priorities
and actions there seems to be a disconnect between what BWSR is requesting and what the WMO Board
feels is their role. That’s why I hesitate to push this to formal comment at this time. I’d like to hear your
thoughts on the comments and their implications and think through how best to address this in a way that
is consistent with both WMO Plan requirements and E-IGHWMO’s goals. I see a variety of options such
as adding policies back into the plan, explaining City obligations under the MS4 program, and/or
recategorizing and refining planned actions to be more measurable.
 
Given the comments from BWSR it may also be beneficial to provide the Board with more context on their
role as a WMO and the relationship with the Cities.
 
Hopefully Diane can share her thoughts as well while I’m out of town.
 
Have a good weekend,
Lisa
 
Lisa Tilman, PE
Senior Water Resources Engineer
she/her

 

From: Ranua, Victoria <Victoria.Ranua@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US> 
Sent: Friday, August 8, 2025 1:44 PM
To: Tilman, Lisa <Lisa.Tilman@stantec.com>
Cc: Spector, Diane <diane.spector@stantec.com>; Barten, Joe <Joe.Barten@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US>;
Neumiller, Grace <Grace.Neumiller@stantec.com>
Subject: RE: Watershed Plan Update

 
Lisa,
 
Before you are out of the office next week, could you send us what you have so far: most
recent copies of all revised sections (comment tracking if you have that) and the totality of the
comments received and your response to the comments thus far?
 
This will help us see and better understand what comments may fall into three potential

mailto:Lisa.Tilman@stantec.com
mailto:Victoria.Ranua@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US
mailto:diane.spector@stantec.com
mailto:Joe.Barten@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US
mailto:Grace.Neumiller@stantec.com
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.stantec.com/en__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGbiIdrG4$









 Table of Contents

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS	iv	

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	ES-1	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - update all footers with August 2025	Comment by Neumiller, Grace: done	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: I couldn't add a Comment in the Footer. The Date in the Footer needs to be updated. (this is Sarah Saito) :)

1.0       	Introduction and Purpose	6

1.1	Background and History	7

1.2	Plan Organization	9

2.0       	Inventory and Condition Assessment	11

2.1	Watershed Physical Environment	12

2.1.1	Location	12

2.1.2	Topography and Drainage	12

2.1.3	Geology and Geomorphology	12

2.1.4	Climate	13

2.1.5	Soils	13

2.2	Watershed Biological Environment	14

2.2.1	Vegetation	14

2.2.2	Fish and Wildlife	17

2.2.3	Unique Features and Scenic Areas	19

2.3	Watershed Human Environment	19

2.3.1	Current Land Use and Population	19

2.3.2	Future Land Use	19

2.3.3	Water-Based Recreation	23

2.3.4	Potential Environmental Hazards	24

2.4	Watershed Water Resources	25

2.4.1	Lakes	25

2.4.2	Streams	31

2.4.3	Ditches	32

2.4.4	Wetlands	32

2.4.5	Public Waters	33

2.4.6	Floodplain	34

2.4.7	Groundwater	35

3.0       	Watershed Organization and Operations	35

3.1	Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization	36

3.1.1	Purpose and Authority	36

3.1.2	Governance	36

3.1.3	Operations	36

3.2	Responsibilities	37

3.2.1	Board	37

3.2.2	Relationship to Other Agencies	37

4.0       	Issues and Goals	41

4.1	Mission and Vision	42

4.2	Assessment of Problems and Issues	43

4.3	Community Survey Results	46

4.4	Watershed Management Plan Priorities	50

4.5	Management Plan Goals and Policies	51

4.5.1	Water Quantity	52

4.5.2	Water Quality	53

4.5.3	Groundwater	58

4.5.4	Wetlands	59

5.0       	Implementation Plan	60

5.1.1	Coordination with Other Agencies	61

5.1.2	Regulatory Program	61

5.1.3	Monitoring and Technical Assistance Program	61

5.1.4	Education and Outreach Program	62

5.1.5	Capital Improvement Program	68

5.1.6	Administration Program	69

6.0       	Impact on Local Governments	73

6.1.1	Local Plan Content	74

6.1.2	Local Plan Review	74

7.0       	Amendments to the Plan	76

7.1.1	Amendment Procedures	77

7.1.2	Form of the Amendment	77

8.0       	References	78



TABLES	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Table numbers (2a, 2b, etc) are not consistent with the manuscript text referencing the tables (2.1, 2.2, etc). These need to be fixed.

Table 2a. Cities in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-1

Table 2‑b. Temperature normals in °F for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-2

Table 2‑c. Precipitation normals in inches for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-2

Table 2‑d. Soil characteristics and infiltration rates by Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG).	2-3

Table 2‑e. Native plant community types observed in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-4

Table 2‑f. DNR fish stocking in lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed, 2003-2024.	2-7

Table 2‑g. Rare animal species observed in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-7

Table 2‑h. 2020 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-9

Table 2‑i. Eutrophication water quality standards for lakes in the watershed.	2-14

Table 2‑j. Characteristics of lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed (2014-2024).	2-14

Table 2‑k. Impaired lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-18

Table 2‑l. NWI wetland area by type in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-19



FIGURES	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Figure numbers (2a, 2b, etc) are not consistent with the manuscript text referencing the figures (2.1, 2.2, etc). These need to be fixed.



Figure 1a. The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed in Dakota County, Minnesota.	1-2

Figure 2b. Soils by Hydrologic Soil Group classification.		2-3

Figure 2c. Presettlement vegetation.	2-5

Figure 2d. Sites of ecological diversity and significance.	2-6

Figure 2e. 2020 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-10

Figure 2f. Planned 2040 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-11

Figure 2g. Water-based recreation in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed, 2025.	2-13

Figure 2h. Lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Background green areas are parks, and note that fens are outside the jurisdiction of the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO.	2-15

Figure 2i. Impaired waters in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Fish Lake was deslited in 2014. Carlson and Holz Lakes will be delisted by 2026.	2-17

Figure 2j. National Wetlands Inventory wetlands in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	2-21



APPENDICES



Appendix A: Joint Powers Agreement





Table of Contents (cont.)





i



ii



Abbreviations and Acronyms

BMP				Best Management Practice

BWSR				Board of Water and Soil Resources

cfs				cubic feet per second

Chl-a				Chlorophyll-a

Board		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization Board of Managers

CIP				Capital Improvement Program

DNR				Department of Natural Resources

EPA				Environmental Protection Agency

LGU				Local Government Unit

MDA				Minnesota Department of Agriculture

MDH				Minnesota Department of Health

MDNR				Minnesota Department of Natural Resources

MPCA				Minnesota Pollution Control Agency

MS4				Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System

NPDES				National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System

NWI				National Wetland Inventory

NWS				National Weather Service

ppb				parts per billion (µg/L)

Plan		Watershed Management Plan

E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

SWPPP				Storm Water Pollution Prevention Program

TMDL				Total Maximum Daily Load

TP				Total Phosphorus

TSS 				Total Suspended Solids

µg/L				microgram per liter (ppb)

USEPA				United States Environmental Protection Agency

USGS				United States Geological Survey

WCA				Wetland Conservation Act

WLA				Wasteload Allocation

WMO				Watershed Management Organization













iv



Executive Summary

included in the plan 





The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization was formed on January 7, 2014 using a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) developed under authority conferred to the member communities – Eagan and Inver Grove Heights - by Minnesota Statutes 471.59 and under the authority of MS 103B.201 through 103B.251. The watershed had previously been established as the Gun Club Lake Watershed Management Organization. That joint powers organization was dissolved in 2013 when the City of Mendota Heights withdrew.



The watershed is located in the southeast portion of the Minneapolis-St. Paul seven county metropolitan area (Figure 1.1) in the Lower Minnesota River basin of the Upper Mississippi River watershed. The Organization’s purpose is set forth in Minnesota Statutes 103B.210, Metropolitan Surface Water Planning, which codified the Metropolitan Surface Water Management Act of 1982. Minnesota Statutes 103B.231 and Minnesota Rules 8410 establish requirements for watershed management plans within the Twin Cities Metro Area. The law requires the plan to focus on actions to:



(1)  Protect, preserve, and use natural surface and groundwater storage and retention systems;

(2)  Minimize public capital expenditures needed to correct flooding and water quality problems;

(3)  Identify and plan for means to effectively protect and improve surface and groundwater quality;

(4)  Establish more uniform local policies and official controls for surface and groundwater management;

(5)  Prevent erosion of soil into surface water systems;

(6)  Promote groundwater recharge;

(7)  Protect and enhance fish and wildlife habitat and water recreational facilities; and

(8)  Secure the other benefits associated with the proper management of surface and ground water.






[image: A map of the state of illinois

AI-generated content may be incorrect.] 







Executive Summary (cont.)

	

Figure ES.1: Cities in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.


		 ES-1

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June August 20252016









		ES-5

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June 2026





		



(This page intentionally blank.)





[bookmark: _Toc162888774]Introduction and Purpose 

The cities of Eagan and Inver Grove Heights created the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization (E-IGHWMO) on January 7, 2014 using a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) developed under authority conferred by Minnesota Statutes Sections 471.59 and 103B.201 through 103B.251. The watershed was originally organized on June 1, 1985 as the Gun Club Lake Watershed Management Organization, a joint powers organization that also included the City of Mendota Heights. That WMO was disbanded when Mendota Heights withdrew from the JPA. The Joint Powers Agreement governing the E-IGHWMO is included in Appendix A.	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - move this purpose section to the Ex. Summary, and delete the purpose from section 3.0 as well.	Comment by Neumiller, Grace: done



The watershed is located in the southeast portion of the Minneapolis-St. Paul seven county metropolitan area (Figure 1.1) in the Lower Minnesota River basin of the Upper Mississippi River watershed.  The Board’s purpose is set forth in Minnesota Statutes 103B.201, Metropolitan Surface Water Planning, which codified the Metropolitan Surface Water Management Act of 1982.   



(1)  Protect, preserve, and use natural surface and groundwater storage and retention systems;

(2)  Minimize public capital expenditures needed to correct flooding and water quality problems;

(3)  Identify and plan for means to effectively protect and improve surface and groundwater quality;

(4)  Establish more uniform local policies and official controls for surface and groundwater management;

(5)  Prevent erosion of soil into surface water systems;

(6)  Promote groundwater recharge;

(7)  Protect and enhance fish and wildlife habitat and water recreational facilities; and

(8)  Secure the other benefits associated with the proper management of surface and groundwater.





[bookmark: _Toc1730871780]Background and History



The E-IGHWMO is a new joint powers organization established in 2014. Member cities had previously been part of , but the member cities are not new to watershed management. Tthe predecessor WMO, the Gun Club Lake WMO, which had completed and implemented two ten-year management plans prior to disbanding. The E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO is relatively unique in the Twin Cities Metro Area: it is almost entirely comprised of land in one city—Eagan—and encompasses most of that city. It faces some special challenges defining a role for the Board that fulfills its statutory purpose and requirements without creating duplication of effort.	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: Is it still considered "new" after 11+ years?	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: I suggest being consistent with spacing throughout the document (I-IGHWMO vs E-IGH WMO)



Both member cities have a long history of active water and natural resources management. That part of the watershed that is in Inver Grove Heights is for the most part managed either according to a master plan (the City of Inver Grove Heights’ Northwest Area plan) with stringent volume management requirements or by an existing cooperative agreement between the two cities. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This remains unclear. A) which part of IGH is the Northwest Part, and where does the lie with respect to the WMO boundary, B) what does "for the most part" mean with respect to whether or how this portion of IGH is managed and C) what geography does the cooperative agreement cover vs the NW Area or nothing?	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: I agree this is confusing.



The City of Eagan, which comprises 96 percent of the land area of the watershed, operates a robust water resources program, celebrating 25 years of successes in 2015.. As the City began rapidly developing in the 1980s, proactive actions to manage lakes and ponds, regulate shoreland activities, and respond to potential sanitary sewer permit violations helped to protect lakes and maintain water quality. Today, long-term data show most of the lakes in the watershed meet state water quality standards. Where standards are not met, Eagan has been proactive in developing management plans and dedicating resources for their improvement.



Some specific successes include:



· The MPCA recently determined that Fish Lake is no longer considered impaired, following Eagan’s three years of improvement efforts.

· Twenty-five rain gardens have reduced stormwater impacts from a small neighborhood to Schwanz Lake by an estimated 74% in less than five years.

· In 2015 the City completed the Neighborhood Lakes TMDL and Management Plans Report, a study of 12 lakes, quantifying nutrient load reductions where the lakes don’t currently meet state water quality standards, and identifying implementation actions both to improve water quality and protect existing good water quality.







[image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444511]Figure 1‑a‑. The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed in Dakota County, Minnesota.	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - make sure all highlight is removed in the final









		1-4

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		August 2025June 2016 







[bookmark: _Toc345330193][bookmark: _Toc1538924508]Plan Organization



The E-IGHWMO initiated work on its first Watershed Management Plan in January 2015. It initiated work on its Second-Generation Watershed Management Plan in 2024. 



Minnesota Statutes 103B.201 to 103B.253 and Minnesota Rules Chapter 8410 specify the basic content of the watershed management plan.  This plan is divided into six sections:  



	1 – Introduction and Purpose: Describes the authority and composition of the E-IGHWMO the purpose of the Surface Water Management Act and the components of this watershed management plan.

	2 – Inventory and Condition Assessment: A physical inventory of the watershed, whichit includes a profile of the watershed’s existing environmental conditions.  This profile contains descriptions of the area's geology, topography, soils, biological and human environment, and current land use and expected land use in 20402020. This section also contains information on the lakes, streams, and wetlands in the watersheds.

	3 – Watershed Organization and Operations: This section provides information about the WMO, how it is organized, its history, and its responsibilities, and discusses ongoing operations. 

	4 – - Goals and PoliciesIssues and Goals: This section presents the E-IGHWMO Board of Managers’ Vision and Mission for watershed management, describes the problems and issues identified in the planning process, and  sets forth the goals the Board will work to achieve in the ten-year period covered by this Plan.

	5 – Implementation Plan: This section describes the Board’s proposed operating programs and the Capital Implementation Program, andProgram and discusses implementation costs and financing. It also discusses the methods by which the Board will evaluate progress towards achieving the goals set forth in the Plan.



	6 – Impact on Local Government: This section describes the Board’s expectations for Local Surface Water Management Plans prepared by the member cities in the watershed, and how the Board will fulfill its oversight responsibilities. 



7 – - Amendments to the Plan: This section sets forth the process that will be followed should this Plan need to be amended.









(This page intentionally blank.)





[bookmark: _Toc345330194][bookmark: _Toc68252688]Inventory and Condition Assessment	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Note to please refer to my earlier comments (spreadsheet) with respect to meeting requirements in MR 8410. I don't feel that this version has sufficiently addressed missing requirements, e.g. stormwater systems, groundwater/surface water connections, wetland priority areas, water quality trends, water quantity trends (are city models keeping up with changing ppt?). 



This section documents existing conditions and resource characteristics within the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. 



Member cities complete Local Water Management Plans summarizing the City’s physical environment and land use, drainage areas and the volumes, rates, and paths of stormwater runoff, areas for stormwater management needed to meet water quality and quantity standards established in the WMO plan, identify regulated areas, and lay out an implementation program, including capital improvements. The E-IGHWMO has the opportunity to review Local Water Management Plans of member cities prior to local adoption to ensure consistency with this Watershed Management Plan. Where the Local Water Management Plans or other planning documents provide a detailed inventory of conditions, those data are not repeated here but are referenced and listed in the 8.0 References section. A summary of that information is provided for context, with new or updated information presented in more detail.	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: Local Water Management Plans are not explained before this. Would recommend a quick explanation of what these are and how they relate to the WMO. 



The Physical Environment subsection describes the watershed’s physical setting, geology and geomorphology, soils, and water resources.  The Biological Environment subsection describes vegetation, biodiversity and native communities, unique features, and the biology of lakes and streams. The subsection Human Environment describes land use and growth patterns, recreational resources, and potential environmental hazards. The lakes, streams, and wetlands in the watershed are described in the Water Resources section. 



[bookmark: _Toc345330196][bookmark: _Toc1138926233]Watershed Physical Environment



[bookmark: _Toc345330197][bookmark: _Toc637933222]Location



The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed covers just over 30 square miles in northwest Dakota County. There are two municipalities with land in the watershed (Figure 1.1, Table 2.1). 



[bookmark: _Ref421634157][bookmark: _Toc345330274][bookmark: _Toc353464582][bookmark: _Toc353464616][bookmark: _Toc202431324]Table 2‑a. Cities in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

		[bookmark: _Toc345330198]Cities

		Area (sq mi)

		% of Total



		Eagan

		29.37

			95.9%



		Inver Grove Heights

			1.24

			4.1%



		Total

			30.61

		







[bookmark: _Toc693180155]Topography and Drainage



The watershed is rolling to hilly and slopes from the south and southeast northwest to the Minnesota River. The topography is characterized by deep, poorly drained depressions that hold wetlands and ponds and are naturally land-locked. Many of these outlet through storm sewers. There are no perennial streams draining the watershed. 	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: land-locked
sewers	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is the only mention of stormwater systems in this section - it's not sufficient to meet the requirements of 8410.0060 Subp. 1 H. However, the bigger issue is how do the stormwater systems impact the resource issues and water bodies in the watershed? It's impossible to assess if there's no baseline understanding of what's out there. That's why it's a required component of the land & water resource inventory.

[bookmark: _Toc353464583][bookmark: _Toc353464617]

[bookmark: _Toc345330201][bookmark: _Toc963284608]Geology and Geomorphology 



The C-57 Geologic Atlas of Dakota County provides anoverview of the surficial and bedrock geology of the E-IGH watershed (UMN 2023). The Lower Minnesota River Watershed District (LMRWD n.d) provides a good overview of the surficial and bedrock geology of the watershed. The E-IGH watershed is located within the Twin Cities formation of the Eastern St. Croix Moraine, which is characterized by relatively steep hills, rolling topography and occasional deep depressions filled with either small lakes or peat. In general, the area between I-35E and the Minnesota River is dominated by Des Moines Lobe mixed till and mixed outwash deposits, with the balance of the watershed dominated by Superior Lobe till. Additional information on the geology of the watershed, including the presence of one karst feature (a sinkhole noted as “Bridle Ridge Rd. Collapse), can be found in the Geologic Atlas of Dakota County, Minnesota (UMN 2023) and the Dakota County, Minnesota Groundwater Plan 2020-2030 (Dakota County 2021).	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: See comment regarding citation in chapter 8/references section	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: There is one documented karst feature in the watershed according to the MN DNR (also included in the Dakota County Geologic Atlas, but they cite the DNR). It is a sinkhole in the east-central area of Eagan from 2016 associated with "Bridle Ridge Rd. collapse". This sentence is not wrong as written/with the deletion, but this is some context for why I included karst features in my suggested wording instead of just areas of suspected karst.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: See comment regarding citation in chapter 8/references section



[bookmark: _Toc345330199][bookmark: _Toc1906932619]Climate	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Please include some information about climate change and impacts, per BWSR and other agency early input letters.



The climate is predominately continental.  Sitting close to the middle of North America, the weather in the watershed can vary widely and rapidly.  Both temperature and precipitation can change abruptly. Table ‑2-b shows the watershed’s temperature normals, or averages, for the last 30 years. 



[bookmark: _Ref332356213][bookmark: _Toc345330275][bookmark: _Toc353464584][bookmark: _Toc353464618][bookmark: _Toc202431325]Table 2‑b. Temperature normals in °F for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. 

		Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport (1991-2020)



		 

		Jan

		Feb

		Mar

		Apr

		May

		Jun 

		Jul

		Aug

		Sep

		Oct

		Nov

		Dec

		Annual



		Maximum

		23.6

		28.5

		41.7

		56.6

		69.2

		79.0

		83.4

		80.7

		72.9

		58.1

		41.9

		28.8

		55.4



		Minimum

		8.8

		12.7

		24.9

		37.5

		49.9

		60.4

		65.3

		62.8

		54.2

		40.9

		27.7

		15.2

		38.4



		Mean

		16.2

		20.6

		33.3

		47.1

		59.5

		69.7

		74.3

		71.8

		63.5

		49.5

		34.8

		22.0

		46.9





Source: Minnesota State Climatology Office and National Climatic Data Center.



In a normal year, around 31 inches of precipitation falls on the watershed. ‑Table 2-c shows the watershed’s precipitation normals.  Winter snowfall averages about 51 inches. Snow generally stays on the ground from mid-December to early March. Temperature, snow and rainfall data for the watershed are obtained at the weather station at the Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport.    



[bookmark: _Ref145732439][bookmark: _Toc125534688][bookmark: _Toc137618339][bookmark: _Toc145926690][bookmark: _Toc345330276][bookmark: _Toc353464585][bookmark: _Toc353464619][bookmark: _Toc202431326]Table 2‑c. Precipitation normals in inches for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. 

		Minneapolis-St. Paul International Airport (1991-2020)



		 

		Jan

		Feb

		Mar

		Apr

		May

		Jun 

		Jul

		Aug

		Sep

		Oct

		Nov

		Dec

		Annual



		Precipitation

		0.89

		0.87

		1.68

		2.91

		3.91

		4.58

		4.06

		4.34

		3.02

		2.58

		1.61

		1.17

		31.62



		Snow

		11.0

		9.5

		8.2

		3.5

		0

		0

		0

		0

		0

		0.8

		6.8

		11.4

		51.2





Source: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) National Weather Service National Climatic Data Center.



Climate change is altering the hydrologic landscape through changing precipitation and variations in winter temperatures. These changes result in more extremes and variability in precipitation, additional freeze thaw cycles in the winter and wider variations in snow and ice cover. NOAA Atlas 14 provides the most current precipitation frequency data used in stormwater modeling. NOAA Atlas 15 is in development and is expected to include both updated precipitation frequency values based on the most recent rainfall data and future projections of precipitation frequency values to allow evaluation of impacts of changing precipitation patterns on future infrastructure needs. 	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - also add reference to Minnesota Climate Trends 



[bookmark: _Toc345330200][bookmark: _Toc1402202172]Soils



Most of the watershed’s upland area is composed of well-drained Kingsley sandy or Kinsgley-Mahtomedi complex soils. Texture is generally loamy or sandy with moderate infiltration rates when thoroughly wetted. Moderately permeable soils dominate the watershed, as indicated by the large areas covered by soil hydrologic groups B and C (Figure 2.1).  Soil hydrologic group characteristics are detailed in ‑Table 2-d. 



The soils information in Figure 2.1 and Table 2.4 is provided for use in describing the general characteristics of the major soil associations for summary purposes.  The Dakota County Soil Survey or on-site soil borings should be consulted for site-specific information. The Soil Survey is available through the Dakota County SWCD or the online Web Soil Survey (USDA NRCS 2019).

















[bookmark: _Toc353464586][bookmark: _Toc353464620][image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444512]Figure 2b. Soils by Hydrologic Soil Group classification.‑‑

Source: USDA NRCS SSURGO.



[bookmark: _Ref332218802][bookmark: _Toc345330277][bookmark: _Toc353464587][bookmark: _Toc353464621][bookmark: _Toc202431327]Table 2‑d. Soil characteristics and infiltration rates by Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG).

		HSG

		Infiltration Rate/Hour

		Texture

		Unified Soil Classification System



		A

		1.63”

		Gravel, sandy gravel and silt gravels

		GW – well graded gravels, sandy gravels

GPO – Gap-graded or uniform gravels, sandy gravels

GM – Silty gravels, silty sandy gravels

SW – Well-graded, gravelly sands



		

		0.8”

		Sand, loamy sand or sandy loam

		SP – Gap-graded or uniform sands, gravelly sands



		B

		0.45”

		

		SM – Silty sands, silty gravelly sands



		

		0.3”

		Loam, silt loam

		MH – Micaceous silts, diatomaceous silts, volcanic ash



		C

		0.2”

		Sandy clay loam

		ML – Silts, very fine sand, silty or clayey fine sands



		D

		0.06”

		Clay loam, silty clay loam, sandy clay, silty clay or clay

		GC – Clayey gravels, clayey sandy gravels

SC – Clayey sands, clayey gravelly sands

CL – Low plasticity clays, sandy or silty clays

OL – Organic silts and clays of low plasticity

CH – Highly plastic clays and sandy clays

OH – Organic silts and clays of high plasticity





Source: Minnesota Stormwater Manual (MPCA 2015).





[bookmark: _Toc345330202][bookmark: _Toc1727038917]Watershed Biological Environment



[bookmark: _Toc133308306][bookmark: _Toc145755515][bookmark: _Toc145900698][bookmark: _Toc345330203][bookmark: _Toc1978154140]Vegetation



At the time of the Public Land Survey conducted by the U.S. Surveyor General’s Office between 1848-1907, the watershed was dominated by the Big Woods of maple-basswood forest. Aspen-oaklands and oak openings and barrens are ecotones between open prairie and deciduous forest, characterized by small groves of trees interspersed with prairie (see Figure 2-c). Since the area has been converted to urban uses and agriculture only a few remnants of the presettlement vegetation remain, mostly preserved within local and Lebanon Hills Regional Park. The DNR and Minnesota Biological Survey (MBS) have identified those locations in the watershed with intact native plant communities, and those with biodiversity significance (see Figure 2.3).  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: When was this?



The DNR identified Regionally Significant Natural Resource Areas by evaluating land characteristics: the imperviousness of areas of natural land cover; the size and shape of the natural area; the adjacent land use and land cover; connectivity to other natural areas; and presence of native plant communities. The Minnesota Biological Survey (MBS) identified sites of biodiversity significance that may contain high quality native plant communities, rare plants, rare animals, and/or animal aggregations. A biodiversity significance rank is assigned on the basis of the number of rare species, the quality of the native plant communities, size of the site, and context within the landscape.



The MBS identifies native plant communities, which are a group of native plants that interact with each other and the surrounding environment in ways not greatly altered by humans or by introduced plant or animal species. Table 2.5 indicates the native plant community types that have been identified in the watershed and their conservation status.





[bookmark: _Ref421634159][bookmark: _Toc202431328]Table 2‑e. Native plant community types observed in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Graced - Check if this is the most current data for EIGH - perhaps with GIS team - and update the Current as of 2015 to current as of 2025 or update data if needed	Comment by serrante@yahoo.com: The years last catagorized are in the 90's. I feel those are old dates. Let me know if I am wrong.

		Community Type

		Last Cataloged

		State Status



		Mesic prairie (southern) type

		1998

		S2



		Oak forest (southeast) mesic type

		1993

		SNR



		Tamarack swamp (southern)

		1993

		S2S3



		Red oak-sugar maple – basswood – (bitternut hickory) forest

		1993

		S3



		Red oak-white oak forest

		1994

		S4





Minnesota conservation status ranks include S1 = critically imperiled; S2 = imperiled; S3 = vulnerable to extirpation; S4 = apparently secure, uncommon but not rare; S5 = secure, common, widespread, and abundant.



Note:  Current as of 2015.  Not based on a comprehensive survey of the state or watershed. Absence of observation does not mean other species or community types are not present.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Copied from old plan - is this the most up-to-date data available?

Source:  Natural Heritage and Nongame Research Program of the Division of Ecological and Water Resources, Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 



Rare, Threatened, and Endangered Species.  The DNR Natural Heritage and Nongame Research Program maintains a database of observations of rare plant and animal species compiled from historical records from museum collections and published information supplemented with data from years of field work.  No rare plant species were listed in that database as being observed recently or at some time in the past within the watershed.  However, the protected calcareous fens, wet meadows, and Minnesota River bottoms are home to rare and threatened species of concern. 	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - check if there are calcareous fens, wet meadows, or Minnesota River bottom areas in the WMO - perhaps through GIS team or the report we’re referencing here and delete this sentence if there aren’t any. If there are rare plants noted in EIGHWMO, add that info here	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Does/could water mgmt within the WMO have any impact on these resources?	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: The maps below don't clearly identify calcareous fens. Are there some in the WMO? Are they captured by Regionally Sig Ecological Areas?



[image: ]

[bookmark: _Ref376963430][bookmark: _Toc202444513]Figure 2‑c2‑2. Presettlement vegetation.

Source: Minnesota DNR.





[image: ]

[bookmark: _Ref381191905][bookmark: _Toc202444514]Figure 2‑d2‑3. Sites of ecological diversity and significance. 

Source: Minnesota County Biologic Survey (CBS), Minnesota DNR.

[bookmark: _Ref137618933][bookmark: _Toc125534692][bookmark: _Toc137618343][bookmark: _Toc145926694][bookmark: _Toc345330279][bookmark: _Toc353464590][bookmark: _Toc353464624]

[bookmark: _Toc133308307][bookmark: _Toc145755516][bookmark: _Toc145900699][bookmark: _Toc345330204][bookmark: _Toc1676837142]Fish and Wildlife



Fish. Fishing is possible on many of the lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. The City of Eagan maintains an online resources that includes directions and lake access (City of Eagan 2025), common fish species (City of Eagan 2025), and information about lake management (City of Eagan 2025). Lakes that are regularly stocked with fish by the DNR are shown in Table 2.6. The DNR Lakefinder (MDNR 2025) website may be consulted to find the latest fish survey information for each lake.	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: Consider mentioning cultural significance of fishing 

	Comment by Tilman, Lisa: Grace - update with City stocking info - see folder with informal comments

[bookmark: _Ref330800062][bookmark: _Toc125534693][bookmark: _Toc137618344][bookmark: _Toc145926695][bookmark: _Toc345330280][bookmark: _Toc353464591][bookmark: _Toc353464625][bookmark: _Toc202431329]Table 2‑f. DNR fish stocking in lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed, 2003-2024.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: We will send an updated stocking list ASAP.  The City does way more stocking beyond this.

		Lake

		Year(s) Stocked	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Are these supposed to be in order of most recent - oldest? Seems odd, but maybe that's a convention I'm not aware of.

		Fish Stocked



		LeMay

		2018, 2015-2014

		Yellow perch, Black crappie, largemouth Bass



		Fish

		2018-2016, 2014

		Walleye, channel catfish, northern pike, yellow perch



		Carlson

		2024- 2017, 2015-2010

		Walleye, channel catfish



		McDonough

		2014-2010

		Bluegill sunfish, black crappie





Source:  Minnesota DNR.



Rare, Threatened, and Endangered Species. The DNR Natural Heritage and Nongame Research Program maintains a database of observations of rare plant and animal species compiled from historical records from museum collections and published information supplemented with data from years of field work. Table 2.7 shows the rare fish and wildlife species listed in that database as being observed recently or at some time in the past within the watershed.  



[bookmark: _Ref330798778][bookmark: _Toc345330282][bookmark: _Toc353464593][bookmark: _Toc353464627][bookmark: _Toc202431330]Table 2‑g. Rare animal species observed in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

		Scientific Name

		Name

		Last Cataloged

		Federal Status

		State Status



		Buteo lineatus

		Red-shouldered Hawk

		1988

		-

		SPC



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		1988

		-

		THR



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		1993

		-

		THR



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		2000

		-

		THR



		Chondestes grammacus

		Lark sparrow

		2008

		-

		SPC



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		2017

		-

		THR



		Crotalaria saggittalis var. sagittalis	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: This is a plant.

		Rattlebox

		2017

		-

		SPC



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		2018

		-

		THR



		Etheostoma microperca

		Least darter

		2018

		-

		SPC



		Notropis anogenus

		Pugnose shiner

		2018

		-

		THR



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		2019

		-

		THR



		Etheostoma microperca

		Least darter

		2019

		-

		SPC



		Notropis anogenus

		Pugnose shiner

		2019

		-

		THR



		Etheostoma microperca

		Least darter

		2020

		-

		SPC



		Notropis anogenus

		Pugnose shiner

		2020

		-

		THR



		Emydoidea blandingii

		Blanding's turtle

		2021

		-

		THR



		Cygnus buccinator

		Trumpeter Swan

		2021

		-

		SPC



		Etheostoma microperca

		Least darter

		2021

		-

		SPC



		Notropis anogenus

		Pugnose shiner

		2021

		-

		THR





Minnesota conservation status ranks include END-endangered, THR-threatened, SPC-special concern.

Note:  Current as of 2025.  Not based on a comprehensive survey of the state or the watershed.  Absence of observation does not mean other species are not present. Some species may have multiple observations.

Source:  Natural Heritage and Nongame Research Program of the Division of Ecological and Water Resources, Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (DNR). 



Aquatic Invasive Species.  As of 2025, seven eleven lakes  and ponds in the watershed have been determined by the Department of Natural Resources (DNR) to be infested with Eurasian Watermilfoil (Myriophyllum spicatum), an invasive exotic plant species. These include Fish, Holland, McDonough, O’Brien, Portage (in Lebanon Hills Regional Park), Blackhawk, Schultz, Thomas, and Schwanz Lakes, as well as Valley Pond and Heine Pond. In addition, Hay Lake, Holz Lake, and Unnamed Lake (19006400) were listed as infested  The DNR has determined Holz Lake to be infested wwith Flowering Rush (Butomus umbellatus) (see Figure 2.7). Also, numerous other lakes and wetlands contain non-native Purple Loosestrife (Lythrum salicaria) and Curly-leaf Pondweed (Potamogeton crispus).	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Eagan would like to see reference somewhere on the efforts we're making to combat AIS - specifically Flowering Rush, which we jumped on immediately upon discovery.  	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: I say this again later, but referencing the lakes within Lebanon Hills feels misleading.  Dakota County is not a member of this WMO, and I don't think it's appropriate to reference issues in waterbodies we have no control over.	Comment by victoria.ranua@co.dakota.mn.us: They are within the physical boundaries of the watershed, and maybe should be at the table (an maybe even a future signer of the WMO JPA).	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Not clear which figure this is supposed to refer to and why.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Yes, it is confusing that the text references figures with a number (2.#), whereas the figures are labeled with a letter (2-X). Same with tables.



[bookmark: _Toc345330205][bookmark: _Toc43377548]Unique Features and Scenic Areas



The 2,000-acre Lebanon Hills Regional Park is located within the watershed, and managed entirely by Dakota County. This large park offers hiking, mountain biking, camping, horse trails, geocaching, kayaking, cross country skiing, and picnicking, and offers numerous classes and events at its Nature Center. City parks provide access to the watershed’s many lakes.



While not located within the E-IGH watershed, Nicols Fen, a rare calcareous fen, is downstream of the watershed on the Minnesota River bluff. Kennealy Creek and Harnack Creek, DNR-designated trout streams, are also downstream of the watershed. 



[bookmark: _Toc345330206][bookmark: _Toc1898464682]Watershed Human Environment





[bookmark: _Toc345330207][bookmark: _Toc84903090]Current Land Use and Population



The predominant land use in the watershed is single family detached residential which make up 37 percent of the overall area. Parks, recreational, and preserves comprise 14 percent of the overall land area, dominated by the nearly 2,000-acre Lebanon Hills Regional Park. Undeveloped, a category which includes undevelopable wetlands and grasslands in addition to lands that are currently vacant and developable (Table 2.8) comprises 10 percent. Almost the entire watershed (Figure 2.4) is within the existing Metropolitan Urban Service Area (MUSA). The 2020 Census population of the watershed is approximately 71,855 persons. The MPCA has designated portions of the E-IGH watershed as environmental justice areas, with over 40% people of color. View the MPCA Environmental Justice map at the following link for more information: Understanding Environmental Justice in MN. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What are the implications for areas outside of the MUSA? Are there septic/well concerns? If so, this is important background info for the plan. Or, is there a plan to incorporate this into the MUSA? A bit more info here would be reall helpful.



[bookmark: _Toc345330209][bookmark: _Toc1879907321]Future Land Use	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: Comp Plan updates will begin shortly, and it is anticipated most municipalities will adopt their new plans in 2028. Please work closely with your cities at this time, and update the plan where impacted.



Areas of projected urban growth are shown in Figure 2.5. Future land use data was compiled by the Metropolitan Council from cities’ most recent Comprehensive Plans, and represents cities’ expected 20430 land use.  Most of the projected growth is expected to be in the existing developed corridors, with a mix of development at different densities, and to include residential, commercial, and industrial uses.



[bookmark: _Ref345330544][bookmark: _Toc345330283][bookmark: _Toc353464594][bookmark: _Toc353464628]


[bookmark: _Toc202431331]Table 2‑h. 2020 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: These categories are not the same as those in Figure 2-f. It's hard to compare between the two. Might be useful to see a side-by-side of the categories that match those depicted in the current and future land use maps.

		Land Use

		Area (acres)

		%



		Single Family Detached

		7326.5

		37%



		Park, Recreational, or Preserve

		2794.3

		14%



		Undeveloped

		1892.4

		10%



		Industrial or Utility

		1300.9

		7%



		Single Family Attached

		1154.6

		6%



		Major Highway

		1015.0

		5%



		Open Water

		898.6

		5%



		Retail and Other Commercial

		794.6

		4%



		Institutional

		780.3

		4%



		Office

		545.7

		3%



		Multifamily

		543.6

		3%



		Mixed Use Industrial

		321.7

		2%



		Agricultural

		89.9

		<1%



		Golf Course

		70.3

		<1%



		Mixed Use Commercial

		41.7

		<1%



		Manufactured Housing Park

		14.0

		<1%



		Mixed Use Residential

		10.4

		<1%



		Farmstead

		2.5

		<1%



		Total

		19597.0

		 





Source: Metropolitan Council from city Comprehensive Plans and aerial photo interpretation.

[image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444515]Figure 2‑e2‑4. 20210 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

Source: Metropolitan Council.

[bookmark: _Ref326066107][bookmark: _Toc345330335][bookmark: _Toc353464598][bookmark: _Toc353464632][image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444516]Figure 2‑f2‑5. Planned 20420 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.   

Source: Metropolitan Council.

[bookmark: _Toc345330210][bookmark: _Toc345330211]


[bookmark: _Toc1811434396]Water-Based Recreation



Public parks abut many of the lakes in the watershed (Figure 2.6). The Lebanon Hills Regional Park on the south end of the watershed preserves many lakes and wetlands, with an extensive trail system providing access and viewing. Dakota County Parks maintains a swimming beach on Schulze Lake and a fishing pier on Holland Lake.



The City of Eagan and the DNR maintain shore fishing piers and shore fishing areas on several of the lakes in the watershed. Some of the lakes are canoe-accessible, and there is a public boat ramp on Fish Lake. Eight lakes are part of the DNR’s Fishing in the Neighborhood program, which promotes fishing across all age groups by providing access to lakes, fish stocking, and programming in schools and at special events.



[bookmark: _Toc1246748219]Potential Environmental Hazards	Comment by serrante@yahoo.com: Take out potential and either leave it environmental hazards or Existing Environmental Hazards (to call potential when they exist especially chloride and mercury.



Groundwater connections (ie. interactions between surface water and groundwater), hazardous waste, leaking above- and below-ground storage tanks, and feedlots can be potential sources of surface and groundwater contamination. The MPCA maintains a current on-line mapping tool called What’s in My NeighborhoodWhat’s in My Neighborhood (MPCA 2025) with information about air quality, hazardous waste, remediation, solid waste, tanks and leaks, and water quality. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Are there any hazards of note within the watershed? If so, describe - if not, say so.



The MPCA also has a Smart Salting Tool (SST) to help communities assess the origin of chloride within their community.  The tool does not make assessment based on WMO boundaries, but for The City of Eagan and the Inver Grove Heights combined have over 130,000 tons of chlorides (the Industrial Source is the Seneca WWTP which serves eight communities, including area with the E-IGHWMO).  Within Eagan and Inver Grove Heights, there are nearly 8,000 tons of water softening salt used annually (the majority of which goes to the Seneca WWTP or into septic drainfields).  Winter Maintenance accounts for nearly 9,000 tons of chloride with the two Cities. The SST tools allows an entity to create a chloride assessment and a chloride action plan.	Comment by valerie.neppl@co.dakota.mn.us: Do we have a sense of what the sources of chloride are in the WWTP? Is this mostly from water softeners?	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: I believe so.

[image: ]



[image: ]






[bookmark: _Ref383530343][bookmark: _Ref421629366][image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444517]Figure 2‑g2‑6. Water-based recreation in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed, 2025.

Source: Minnesota DNR, City of Eagan.







[bookmark: _Toc2005021601]Watershed Water Resources



[bookmark: _Toc345330212][bookmark: _Toc1606655334]Lakes



The City of Eagan recognizes thirty priority lakes in the City, based on lake size and publicly-owned shoreline. The DNR lake number and shoreland classification, lake morphometry, and water quality data are shown in Table 2.10. The 29 lakes in the watershed are shown on Figure 2.7.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Are Eagan's priority lakes part of the prioritization of the WMO's lakes? If not, I suggest taking this out. If so, I suggest moving to the prioritization section of the plan and elaborating on the intersecting priorities (if any). Here, it's confusing, at best.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: I agree, and would recommend removing this reference.  Our priority lakes are not really relevant to how the WMO is prioritizing their efforts.





Minnesota’s eutrophication standards for lake water quality vary depending on the depth classification of the lake (Table 2.9). Shallow lakes have a maximum depth of 15 feet or less or have 80% or more of the lake area shallow enough to support emergent and submerged rooted aquatic plants. Some of the smallest and shallowest of these lakes may be considered wetlands; those eutrophication standards would not apply to those waterbodies. More information about the lakes can be found online at the DNR’s LakeFinder MN DNR 2025).



[bookmark: _Ref378943947][bookmark: _Toc202431332]Table 2‑i. Eutrophication water quality standards for lakes in the watershed.

		Parameters

		Shallow Lakes 

		Deep Lakes 



		Total Phosphorus (TP)  (mg/L)

		≤60

		≤40



		Chlorophyll-a  (chl-a) (mg/L)

		≤20

		≤14



		Secchi Depth transparency (SD) (meters)

		≥1.0

		≥1.4





[bookmark: _Ref378942908][bookmark: _Toc345330285][bookmark: _Toc353464599][bookmark: _Toc353464633]

[bookmark: _Toc202431333]Table 2‑j. Characteristics of lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed (2014-2024).	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Consider adding a column for water quality trends - can be simple, just up/down arrows for improved/decreased and a dash for no significant change.

		Lake

		City ID#

		DNR

ID#

(prefix 19-)

		Surface Area

(ac)

		Max Depth

(ft)

		Depth Class

		DNR

Class

		Summer Average (May-Sept)



		

		

		

		

		

		

		

		TP (µg/L)

		Chl-a (µg/L)

		SD

(m)



		Bald

		JP-20

		0061

		10.3

		9

		Shallow

		GD

		59

		18

		1.6



		Blackhawk

		BP-1

		0059

		37.7

		10

		Shallow

		RD

		27

		9

		1.7



		Bur Oaks

		GP-1

		0259

		10.0

		9

		Shallow

		-

		82

		13

		1.8



		Quigley

(Carlson)‡

		LP-42

		0066

		12.0

		19

		Deep

		GD

		31

		25

		2.0



		Cliff

(Pitts)‡

		AP-11

		0068

		11.8

		8

		Shallow

		GD

		43

		11

		1.2



		East Thomas

		BP-8

		0161

		8.8

		9

		Shallow

		-

		32

		12

		1.6



		Fish

		JP-4

		0057

		28.9

		33

		Shallow

		GD

		152

		15

		2.0



		Fitz

(Unnamed)‡

		LP-26

		0077

		11.5

		9

		Shallow

		GD

		25

		21

		1.4



		Gerhardt	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		BLP-2

		0069

		14.9

		17

		Shallow

		NE

		-

		29

		0.9



		Hay

(Unnamed)‡

		LP-31

		0062

		19.8

		9

		Shallow

		GD

		27

		9

		1.8



		Heine Pond

(Unnamed)‡

		BP-5

		0153

		7.2

		30

		Deep

		-

		11

		6

		3.2



		Holland	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		LP-38

		0665

		36.4

		75

		Shallow

		NE

		-

		4

		3.9



		Holz

		LP-28

		0064

		9.2

		9

		Shallow

		GD

		25

		18

		1.7



		Jensen	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		LP-12

		0071

		51.9

		6

		Shallow

		NE

		-

		12

		1.6



		LeMay

		DP-2

		0055

		36.5

		16

		Shallow

		GD

		47

		12

		1.8



		McCarthy

		JP-9

		0060

		11.3

		6

		Shallow

		RD

		189

		105

		0.9



		McDonough	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		LP-45

		0076

		16.7

		11

		Shallow

		RD

		-

		14

		2.2



		North

(Unnamed)‡

		EP-2

		0136

		14.2

		11

		Shallow

		-

		51

		14

		2.2



		O’Brien	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		LP-18

		0072

		35.1

		10

		Shallow

		NE

		-

		7

		3.5



		O’Leary †

		DP-7

		0056

		16.1

		5

		Shallow

		GD

		156

		40

		1.1



		Schulze	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

(Schultz)‡

		LP-24

		0075

		11.9

		13

		Shallow

		NE

		-

		12

		2.6



		Schwanz

		LP-32

		0063

		11.5

		13

		Shallow

		RD

		24

		13

		2.1



		Shanahan

		FP-8

		0054

		13.1

		7

		Shallow

		GD

		33

		9

		1.4



		Thomas

		BP-7

		0067

		40.4

		7

		Shallow

		GD

		32

		16

		1.3





Sources: Minnesota DNR, MPCA EDA

†Considered by the MPCA to be wetlands and not subject to Table 2.9 eutrophication standards.

‡Lake names are as used locally. The DNR lake names are shown in parentheses. 

GD= General Development NE = Natural Environment; RD = Recreational Development (Shoreland Management Classification)

[bookmark: _Ref378866169]







[image: ]	Comment by david.depaz@state.mn.us: Consider adding the watershed boundary in a legend, or in parenthesis at end of first sentence under image. To clearly state red dash line is boundary.

Same comment to all other images containing red dash line as watershed boundary.

[bookmark: _Toc202444518]Figure 2‑h2‑7. Lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Background green areas are parks, and note that fens are outside the jurisdiction of the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO. 

Source: Minnesota DNR.

[bookmark: _Toc345330213]

Impaired Lakes. Five of the lakes in the watershed (Carlson, Holz, Fish, North, and Blackhawk) have been designated by the MPCA and EPA as Impaired Waters, andWaters and are listed on the state’s draft 2014 303(d) list: two for not meeting state nutrient concentration standards, and three exceeding mercury in fish tissue standards. Nutrient TMDLs have been completed for the four lakes (Table 2.11) as part of the City of Eagan’s Neighborhood Lakes TMDL and Management Plans report (Wenck Associates 2015). The MPCA has completed a statewide TMDL for the listed mercury impairments. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What about waste load allocations for lake TMDLs? That seems like important information for targeting BMPs. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which are which? Suggesting naming or include reference to impaiment map figure here.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: There are five lakes in the table, only three of which have nutrient impairments. Not sure which "four" you're referring to.



The MPCA also has assessed many waterbodies in the state for chloride impairments. AThe primary source of chloride is salt used on roads and other pavement. Other potential sources of chloride include the use of water softener salt, which is typically routed through wastewater treatment (drainfield for private septic systems or to  WWTP’s and discharged into downstream  watersheds for those businesses and residences hooked to municipal resources). The MPCA’s draft Twin Cities Metropolitan Area Chloride Management Plan includes Fish Lake among the lakes characterized as “high risk” for chloride impairment, meaning it is not currently listed as impaired, but past monitoring includes results within 10 percent of the chronic criteria (207 mg/L).  For this lake, the there is large amounts of impervious surface in the vicinity used for highway commercial (big box retailers).	Comment by serrante@yahoo.com: water softener chloride is marked at 46% on the chart. List as "other potential sources" should taken out and make water softeners as primary source of chloride pollutants in our water sources. On the same level as roads and sidewalks.



Delisted Lakes. Two Three of the lakes in the watershed (LeMay, Fitz, and Fish) have been delisted, meaning they have been removed from the state’s list of impaired waters (under section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act). Additionally, Carlson and Holz lakes, impaired for nutrients, will be delisted by 2026have been referred for delisting by the PCA in 2026. To be removed from the state’s list of impaired waters, a lake must have water quality data collected over a 10-year period where this these data demonstrates compliance with water quality standards consistently. Effective watershed management practices should be implemented to address and reduce the source of the impairment. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I'm not a TMDL expert, but is "will be delisted" the right phrase? Would "are likely to be delisted" be more appropriate when looking to the future?	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: PCA has reviewed the waterbodies and has referred them for delisting.  They will go through public comment this fall.  I made an edit that hopefully resolves this.



Fish Consumption Guidance. Two waterbodies in Eagan have guidance for fish consumption due to PFAS found in fish tissue. Fish Lake crappies contain PFOS with fish consumption guidance of one serving per month for sensitive groups, and one serving per week for the general public. Sunfish in LeMay Lake contain PFOS, and it is recommended that sensitive populations limit consumption to one serving per month (MDH 2025). 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: While mercury impairments are listed elsewhere, I think it would be helpful for this section on fish consumption guidance to include the fish guidance for mercury as well. Especially since there is one lake without an impairment that has guidelines for mercury, as well as one lake without guidelines for mercury (lack of testing) that has an impairment. Suggested rewording has been added below this section for your consideration with the inclusion of a table, as it got to be a big block of text.



Fish Consumption Guidance. Four lakes in the watershed have waterbody-specific guidance for fish consumption due to mercury and/or PFAS found in fish tissue as of July 2025. When eating fish from one of the lakes listed in Table 2.X, follow the guidance for the listed species. For all other species of fish from these lakes, follow the MDH Statewide Fish Consumption Guidelines (citation/reference). The statewide guidelines should also be followed when eating fish from any lake not listed in Table 2.X. It is important to note that fish from most lakes in the watershed have not been tested for contaminants. For more information, visit the MDH Fish Consumption Guidance webpage (citation/reference).

Table 2.X. Waterbody-specific fish consumption guidance for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Sorry about the formatting of the table. Not sure what happened when I pasted over from my Word doc.

		Lake Name

		Population1

		Fish Species

		Consumption Guideline

		Contaminant



		Blackhawk

		Sensitive

		Crappie

		1 serving per month

		Mercury



		Blackhawk

		General

		Crappie, Sunfish

		1 serving per week

		Mercury



		Fish

		Sensitive

		Crappie

		1 serving per month

		PFOS



		Fish

		General

		Crappie

		1 serving per week

		Mercury, PFOS



		Fish

		General

		Northern pike

		1 serving per month

		Mercury



		McDonough	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Not ours (Lebanon Hills)

		General

		Bullhead, Sunfish

		2 servings per week

		Mercury



		LeMay

		Sensitive

		Sunfish

		1 serving per month

		PFOS



		LeMay

		General

		Sunfish

		1 serving per week

		PFOS





1 The MDH Fish Consumption Guidance program defines populations as:

· Sensitive populations: people who are or may become pregnant, people who are breastfeeding or plan to breastfeed, and children under age 15.

· General populations: people not planning to become pregnant, men, and boys over age 15.










[image: ]

[bookmark: _Toc202444519]Figure 2‑i2‑8. Impaired waters in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Fish Lake was delisted in 2014. Carlson and Holz Lakes will be delisted by 2026. 

Source: Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Draft 20214 303(d) list and Eagan Neighborhood Lakes Study.



[bookmark: _Ref332358731][bookmark: _Toc345330286][bookmark: _Toc353464600][bookmark: _Toc353464634]


[bookmark: _Toc202431334]Table 2‑k. Impaired lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

		Lake

		DNR Lake # 

		Affected Use

		Pollutant

		TMDL Approved

		TMDL Delisting



		Carlson

		19-0066

		Aquatic Recreation

		Nutrients

		2014

		2026 (in review)



		Holtz

		19-0064

		Aquatic Recreation

		Nutrients

		2014

		2026 (in review)



		Fish

		19-0057

		Aquatic Consumption

		Mercury in fish & Nutrients

		2010

		2014



		North

		19-0136

		Aquatic Consumption

		Mercury in fish

		2008

		N/A



		Blackhawk

		19-0059

		Aquatic Consumption

		Mercury in fish

		2008

		N/A





Source: Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Draft 2014 303(d) list. 





[image: ]

Figure 2j. Priority lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Priority based on what criteria?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: In other words, where did this "priority" list come from? Whose priority water bodies are they? There's no discussion to this point in the plan about priority lakes, and the lakes on this map do not match the priority list in Chapter 4 (which has issues of its own - see my comments there for more information).

Source: MN DNR, City of Eagan



Priority Lakes. Figure 2j above shows the priority lakes in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed and the associated lake subwatershed boundaries. An alum dosing facility is located directly east of Fish Lake. The arrows denote the directionality of water flow across the watershed. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Priority based on what criteria?





[bookmark: _Toc1426474264]Streams



There are no perennial streams in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Some intermittent or seasonal channels may temporarily convey runoff during snowmelt or high flow events. KannealyKennealy Creek and Harnack Creek, DNR-designated trout streams, lie downstream of the watershed along the Minnesota River bluff (Figure 2.7).



[bookmark: _Toc2139972223] Ditches



There are no regulated ditches in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.



[bookmark: _Toc345330214][bookmark: _Toc1224669972]Wetlands



The US Fish and Wildlife Service compiled wetland maps from aerial photo interpretation as part of the National Wetland Inventory (NWI). Wetland scientists use two common classification schemes to identify wetland type – the US Fish and Wildlife Service’s “Circular 39” system, and a replacement classification system developed by Cowardin et al. for the Fish and Wildlife Service, commonly referred to as the Cowardin system. The Circular 39 system was originally developed as a means for classifying wetlands for waterfowl habitat purposes. Nine of the Circular 39 freshwater wetland types are found in Minnesota. The Cowardin scheme is a hierarchical classification based on landscape position, substrate, flooding regime, and vegetation. While the Cowardin scheme has been officially adopted by the Fish and Wildlife Service and other agencies, the Circular 39 system is still commonly used because of its simplicity and ease of use. Table 2.12 and Figure 2.9 show the types and areal extent of NWI wetlands in the watershed.



The City of Eagan inventoried wetlands in the community in 2006 and completed functions and values assessments on a select number in areas that were expected to develop in the coming years. Eagan’s 2017 Water Quality and Wetland Management Plan (Bonestroo 2007) includes a classification system and framework for managing wetlands. Section 11.67 of Eagan City Code sets forth regulatory provisions by wetland management classification.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: These paragraphs are copied and pasted from the old plan. Ensure the language is up to date. I know the link has been updated for Eagan's plan, but the 2007 reference is wrong. I didn't look at the IGH link. Is that the most current, and is the City still updating Section 9, Chapter 5, ten years later?	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: The wetland assessment was 2007, the plan was last updated in 2017.  I tried fixing it.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Wenck wrote the 2017 plan, Bonestroo did that older wetland assessment.



The City of Inver Grove Heights has completed a wetland inventory in its Northwest Area and Southwest Study Area, which includes that part of the City within the E-IGHWMO. Functions and values assessments and a wetland management classification system were developed for the wetlands in the Northwest Area (Bonestroo 2003). The City is updating Section 9 Chapter 5 of its City Code to revise stormwater and wetland management provisions.



[bookmark: _Ref345330790][bookmark: _Toc345330293][bookmark: _Toc353464605][bookmark: _Toc353464639][bookmark: _Toc202431335]Table 2‑l. NWI wetland area by type in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

		Circular 39 Type

		Acres

		Percent

		

		Cowardin Type

		Acres

		Percent



		1 -  Seasonally Flooded 

		9.0 

		<0.1%

		

		Unconsolidated Bottom (UB)

		996.3 

		5.1%



		2 -  Wet Meadow

		3.9 

		<0.1%

		

		Emergent (EM)

		409.9 

		2.1%



		3 -  Shallow Marsh

		401.0 

		2.0%

		

		Forested (FO)

		47.3 

		0.2%



		4 -  Deep Marsh 

		135.1 

		0.7%

		

		Scrub-shrub (SS)

		29.9 

		0.2%



		5 -  Shallow Open Water

		873.0 

		4.5%

		

		Aquatic Bed (AB)

		11.5 

		0.1%



		6 -  Shrub Swamp

		29.9 

		0.2%

		

		Unconsolidated Shore (US)

		0.3 

		<0.1%



		7 -  Wooded Swamp 

		43.4 

		0.2%

		 

		Upland

		18,101.6 

		92.4%



		Upland 

		18,101.6

		92.4%

		

		Grand Total

		19,596.9

		



		Grand Total

		19,596.9

		

		

		

		

		





Source: Minnesota DNR, 2013 NWI Update East-Central Minnesota.



[bookmark: _Ref332210357][bookmark: _Toc353464606][bookmark: _Toc353464640][image: ]

[bookmark: _Ref419794525][bookmark: _Toc202444520]Figure 2‑j2‑9. National Wetlands Inventory wetlands in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

Source: Minnesota DNR, 2013 NWI Update East-Central Minnesota.



[bookmark: _Toc345330215][bookmark: _Toc55433989]Public Waters



State statutes classify certain waterbodies as Waters of the State and the DNR maintains maps and lists on the Public Waters Inventory (PWI). Public Waters wetlands include all Type 3, Type 4, and Type 5 wetlands (as defined in U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Circular No. 39, 1971) that are 10 acres or more in size in unincorporated areas or 2.5 acres or more in size in incorporated areas. Public watercourses are defined as natural and altered watercourses with a total drainage area greater than two square miles or natural and altered watercourses designated by the DNR commissioner as trout streams. Work within waterbodies designated on the PWI is regulated by the DNR. Public waters include water basins assigned a shoreline management classification by the commissioner, under sections 103F.201 to 103F.221 of Minnesota Statute 103G.005, Subdivision 15, except wetlands less than 80 acres in size that are classified as natural environment lakes.  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Note that the DNR is in the process of updating the PWI. Are there any anticipated impacts to water resources in the WMO? https://www.dnr.state.mn.us/waters/watermgmt_section/pwi/update.html	Comment by david.depaz@state.mn.us: This is just one part of the entire definition. You may not want to include all items defining public warers. Could just leave it as... Public Waters are all water basins and water courses that meet the criteria set forth in MN Section 103G.005.



The City of Eagan Water Quality and Wetland Management Plan (Wenck Associates 2018) and Inver Grove Heights 4th Generation Water Resources Management Plan (WSB 2018) provide detailed information on Public Waters within each community, and those data are included here by reference. 



[bookmark: _Toc345330216][bookmark: _Toc1240491604]Floodplain	Comment by maureen.hoffman@metc.state.mn.us: Met Council also has Localized Flooding Mapping tool: https://metrocouncil.org/Communities/Planning/Local-Planning-Assistance/CVA/Tools-Resources.aspx



Flooding effects may range from personal nuisance to property damage or loss to injury or deathFlooding can have significant negative impacts on a community.  Floodplain areas flood most often and severely.  Land use regulations define the floodplain as the area covered by the flood that has a one percent chance of occurring each year, also known as the 100-year flood. The floodplain is divided into two zoning districts: the floodway and flood fringe.  The floodway includes the river channel and nearby land areas which must remain open to discharge the 100-year flood. The flood fringe, while in the flood plain, lies outside the floodway.  Regulations usually allow development in the flood fringe but require flood-proofing or raising to the legal flood protection elevation and providing compensating storage.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: I don't think we need to say death here.



In 1968, Congress created the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) to make flood insurance available to property owners at federally subsidized rates. The NFIP required communities to adopt local laws to protect lives and future development from flooding. The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) first must formally notify a community that it has special flood hazard areas (SFHA) before it can join the NFIP.  



FEMA notifies communities by issuing a Flood Hazard Boundary Map (FHBM).  This map (Figure 2-10) shows the approximate boundaries of the community’s 100-year flood plain.  Each participating community has a Flood Insurance Study (FIS). Each of the communities in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed has a Flood Insurance Study. In both Eagan and Inver Grove Heights, the Special Flood Hazard Areas are limited to the floodplains of the Minnesota and Mississippi Rivers. No Special Flood Areas have been identified within the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed. Both cities maintain floodplain ordinances regulating low floor elevations adjacent to ponds and other bodies of water to limit localized flooding potential. Flood insurance studies and printed panels may be obtained from city or county offices, or FEMA’s online Flood Map Service Center. The entire Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed may experience localized flooding to various depths; however, there are no FEMA AE zones within the watershed extent (100-Year Flood Level).	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: If the map is removed, this reference needs to be removed, too.









[image: ]

Figure 2‑10 Floodplain in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed

Source: MN DNR



[bookmark: _Toc345330217][bookmark: _Toc797798742]Groundwater



Each city’s groundwater resources are described in more detail in their Local Water Plans. The City of Inver Grove Heights (WSB 2014) obtains its municipal water from the Prairie du Chien-Jordan and the Mt. Simon-Hinckley aquifers. The City of Eagan (Bonestroo 2005) draws its water from the Jordan, Mt. Simon, and Prairie Du Chien-Jordan aquifers. Both cities also have completed or are in the process of completing Wellhead Protection StudiesBoth cities have also completed Wellhead Protection Plans, approved by the Minnesota Department of Health. The City of Eagan is currently in the process of amending their plan and Inver Grove Heights is due to begin amending their plan in the next few years. These studies model groundwater flow and identify Wellhead Protection Areas that should be managed to reduce the risk of contamination of groundwater. Emergency Response Areas show where immediate action should be taken to clean up spills of contaminants to protect groundwater. More information about these Wellhead Protection Plans can be obtained from the respective city. These plans model groundwater flow, determine Drinking Water Supply Management Areas (DWSMAs) and their vulnerability to contamination, identify potential sources of contamination of groundwater in the DWSMAs, and lay out strategies for managing those potential sources of contamination. DWSMAs show the area where the cities will draw water from for the next 10 years and therefore are areas that should be managed to reduce the risk of contamination of groundwater. When spills do happen in these areas, swift action should be taken to protect groundwater. More information about these Wellhead Protection Plans can be obtained from the respective city. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Ensure these references are up to date.



The 2020-2030 Dakota County Groundwater Plan provides information on groundwater flow and quality for the aquifers present in the watershed (Dakota County 2021). In addition, Drinking Water Supply Management Areas cover many parts of the watershed. Numerous private wells are also present in the watershed, as shown in the Dakota County Wellhead Protection map at the following link: https://gis.co.dakota.mn.us/dwsma. 	Comment by valerie.neppl@co.dakota.mn.us: Information about DWSMAs seem out of place in this paragraph - any links to DWSMAs should be part of the WHPP discussion. Recommend using MDH links.

The Groundwater Plan also identifies priority recharge areas, if that is helpful for this Plan.  

May be helpful to note there are 362 homes in the watershed on wells and septics.

We have info on Eagan & IGH private well sampling here: EaganPrivateWellStudy.pdf,  Inver Grove Heights Township – Private Well Sampling in 2023
Drinking Water contaminants of greatest concern include geogenic arsenic and manganese.  Chloride was detected in 88% of wells, likely from septic systems.

May be worth nothing there are no groundwater contamination plumes noted in the watershed: HYPERLINK "https://www.pca.state.mn.us/about-mpca/minnesota-groundwater-contamination-atlas"roundwater Contamination Atlas | Minnesota Pollution Control Agency	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Regarding the note about MDH links, this is the best link to use, in my opinion. This static page has links to the online map viewer, as well as links to download geospatial data: Source Water Protection Web Map Viewer - MN Dept. of Health. For private wells, the MN Well Index is available here, but often the county has some additional data that we do not at this time: Minnesota Well Index (MWI) - MN Dept. of Health. 

And I like the other suggested updates from Valerie!  I would maybe suggest no known contamination plumes in the watershed. 











		5-4

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June 2026August 2025 







[bookmark: _Toc1195969819]Watershed Organization and Operations

[bookmark: _Toc352828572]This section describes how the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization is organized, its purpose and authorities, and its various operating programs.





[bookmark: _Toc1696359348]Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Most everything in this chapter is copied and pasted from the old plan and it appears to not even have been read for accuracy/relevance before putting in here. Please ensure that what's here is accurate, up-to-date, and relevant to the new plan.



[bookmark: _Toc352828573][bookmark: _Toc1431000546]Purpose and Authority



The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization was formed on January 7, 2014 using a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) developed under authority conferred to the member communities – Eagan and Inver Grove Heights - by Minnesota Statutes 471.59 and under the authority of MS 103B.201 through 103B.251. The watershed had previously been established as the Gun Club Lake Watershed Management Organization. That joint powers organization was dissolved in 2013 when the City of Mendota Heights withdrew.



The Organization’s purpose is set forth in Minnesota Statutes 103B.210, Metropolitan Surface Water Planning, which codified the Metropolitan Surface Water Management Act of 1982. Minnesota Statutes 103B.231 and Minnesota Rules 8410 establish requirements for watershed management plans within the Twin Cities Metro Area. The law requires the plan to focus on actions to:



(1)  Protect, preserve, and use natural surface and groundwater storage and retention systems;

(2)  Minimize public capital expenditures needed to correct flooding and water quality problems;

(3)  Identify and plan for means to effectively protect and improve surface and groundwater quality;

(4)  Establish more uniform local policies and official controls for surface and groundwater management;

(5)  Prevent erosion of soil into surface water systems;

(6)  Promote groundwater recharge;

(7)  Protect and enhance fish and wildlife habitat and water recreational facilities; and

(8)  Secure the other benefits associated with the proper management of surface and ground water.



[bookmark: _Toc1193549108]Governance



The watershed is governed by a five-member board comprised of three representatives from Eagan and two from Inver Grove Heights who are appointed by each City Council for a term determined by the city. The Board meets bi-monthly, holding a meeting on the third Tuesday of eachthe month. Meetings are open to the public. The Joint Powers Agreement setting forth the authorities granted to the Board is included in Appendix A.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: The JPA says appointments are three-year terms, but a member city council may modify the term to establish and maintain staggered terms. See section 6. Subdivision 2 of the JPA.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is not accurate.



[bookmark: _Toc1537306968]Operations



The E-IGHWMO was established in January 2014. The WMO has no employees; it contracts with the Dakota County SWCD for administrative services. The Board contracts with a consulting attorney when necessary, butnecessary but has not yet contracted with a consulting Watershed Engineer. A Planning Advisory Committee was established for Management Plan development, but the Board has not established any standing Technical or Citizen’s Advisory Committees. In its first year the Board focused on self-education and on preparing this, its first Watershed Management Plan. Many of the Board members were new to watershed management planning, so BWSR and SWCD staff made several presentations on the responsibilities and authorities of joint powers WMOs. City and SWCD staff provided information about their policies and programs and reviewed the conditions of their water resources. Inspection, operation, and maintenance of stormwater infrastructure, public works, facilities, and natural and artificial watercourses will be the responsibility of the member cities as the delegated authority of the watershed. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Is this relevant?	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Is this a remnant from the 2016 plan? This current draft plan would be the second watershed management plan. 

 



[bookmark: _Toc352828576][bookmark: _Toc1780363879]Responsibilities



[bookmark: _Toc1209635646]Board



A Board of Managers has been established as the governing body of the Organization. Operating expenses are funded through an annual apportionment to each city based fifty percent on their proportionate share of assessed valuation of real property within the watershed and fifty percent on their proportional area of the watershed. These expenses include the cost of contractual engineering, administrative, and legal services and programs such as water quality monitoring, public information and education, and special studies. 



The Board cannot directly levy taxes or special assessments but has the ability to assess members who subsequently decide how they want to generate the funds.  Options available to the members include ad valorem tax, creation of a watershed management tax district, special assessments, or Chapter 444 storm sewer utility financing.  The Board may also request bonding from Dakota County. Gain, t



[bookmark: _Toc352828578][bookmark: _Toc719645297]Relationship to Other Agencies	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Again, this is all copied from the old plan. Much of it is outdated (e.g. the SWCD has much broader functions now than it did 10 years ago), but more importantly, there's a BUNCH of stuff that's not needed in this section, e.g. history of other organizations. What's needed is the relationship to the WMO; how do these orgs work together to implement this plan and improve the natural resources within the WMO?



Cities. Member cities have approved stormwater management plans consistent with the current watershed plan Gun Club Lake Second Generation Watershed Management Plan. The cities have in place ordinances requiring stormwater management, erosion control, and wetland and floodplain management. The cities are the regulatory authority for the E-IGH watershed. 



Both member cities are National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Municipal Separate Small Storm Sewer System (MS4) communities and have approved NPDES permits and Stormwater Pollution Prevention Programs (SWPPPs) that include numerous activities to manage stormwater and prevent water resource degradation. Those SWPPPs also contain implementation actions to reduce pollutant loading and manage the rate and volume of stormwater runoff.



The Board may undertake capital projects or order capital projects for construction by member cities. In addition to Board-ordered projects, member cities may undertake projects, such as including BMPs in routine street reconstruction projects.



Member cities also engage in various natural resources management activities such as Adopt-A-Park programs, urban forestry and Arbor Day activities, promotion of recycling and composting, and environmental education published in the city newsletter and website. The City Councils of both member cities have established a citizen environmental commission charged with providing advice to the Council on environmental matters.



Dakota County Soil and Water Conservation District (SWCD). The Dakota County SWCD was organized in 1944 to assist land occupiers and homeowners, in rural and urban settings, to protect soil and water resources. Programs and services are offered in several management areas:

 

· Agricultural Resource Management

· Backyard Conservation

· Natural Resources Management

· Stormwater Management

· Watershed Management



The SWCD provides education and outreach to students and to agricultural and suburban property owners; offers technical advice and support to individuals and to cities, townships, and watershed organizations; and provides financial incentives in protect the land and water resources of the county. Priority focus areas include: preventing soil loss; managing the impacts of stormwater; and protecting and restoring native plant communities.



County. The Dakota County Environmental Resources Department operates a number of programs to conserve natural and water resources in the county and the E-IGH watershed, including establishing minimum septic system standards that are enforced locally, well testing and sealing assistance, and the Wetland Health Program (WHEP), a program for adult volunteers, as well as other activities in the non-urbanized areas of the county. The Dakota County Groundwater Protection Plan is incorporated into the Natural Systems of the Dakota County Comprehensive Plan (Dakota County 2009). 	Comment by valerie.neppl@co.dakota.mn.us: Needs to be updated.  Comp plan was amended as of March 2021.  Groundwater Plan is a separate document.



Metropolitan Council. The Metropolitan Council’s Water Resources Management Policy Plan 2050 Water Policy Plan s aims to guide the region towards a present and future where water is clean and plentiful, the benefits of water and water services are maximized and equitable, and risks and negative outcomes are eliminated or minimized. The plan contains the regional water context, water policies, the Wastewater System Plan, and the Metro Area Water Supply Plan. pells out a wide range of programs and activities undertaken by a variety of governmental and private agencies for management of water resources in the Metro area.  The Metropolitan Council allows supports and provides many programs, tools, and activities. Among the many programs and activities are several of particular interest to the Board: the development of targeted watershed pollutant loads; review of watershed and local water plans and comprehensive plans for consistency with Metro goals and objectives; grant programs; the Citizens’ Assisted Lake Monitoring Program (CAMP); and the Environmental Information Management System; and participating in their new subregional engagement effots. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Outdated. Copied from old plan.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Copied from old plan. Are these things actually of particular interest to the Board?



Minnesota Pollution Control Agency.  The MPCA operates several programs applicable to watershed planning. The MPCA monitors water quality, sets standards, and implements various controls.  Of particular interest are the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) program and implementation of the Clean Water Act. The MPCA manages the NPDES Phase I construction and industrial stormwater discharge permitting. MPCA also manages the NPDES Phases I and II permitting for municipal separate storm sewer systems (MS4s). Dakota County and MnDOT are also MS4s with conveyances in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.



The MPCA implements the Clean Water Act’s requirement that states adopt water quality standards to protect the nation’s waters. The Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and MPCA require managers of water resources that fail to meet these established standards to prepare a Total Maximum Daily Load (TMDL) study identifying the source of the pollutant and a plan for bringing the water resource into compliance.  The City of Eagan worked closely with the MPCA and received funding from that agency to complete TMDLs and lake management plans as part of the Eagan Neighborhood Lakes TMDLs and Management Plans study.



Board of Water and Soil Resources.  The board is the state's administrative agency for 90 soil and water conservation districts, 46 watershed districts, 23 metropolitan watershed management organizations, and 80 county water managers. BWSR’s core functions include implementing the state's soil and water conservation policy, comprehensive local water management, and the Wetland Conservation Act (WCA). BWSR reviews and approves watershed management plans and periodically assesses watershed organizations as part of its Performance Review and Assistance Program (PRAP). 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This section is copied from old plan and outdated. There's nothing here about WBIF, for example, which is a major source of funding for the WMO. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Remove the numbers. They're not all accurate and they change over time.



BWSR wetland specialists participate in Technical Evaluation Panels to assess potential wetland impacts and mitigation strategies. BWSR also periodically audits LGUs to assure that WCA is being administered properly. Finally, BWSR is the implementation agency for the Clean Water Funds grant program funded by the Clean Water, Land, and Legacy Amendment. 



Minnesota Department of Health. The Environmental Health Division of the MDH operates many programs of interest to the Board. Programs include Drinking Water Protection, Wellhead Protection, Lake and Fish Monitoring (in partnership with DNR/MPCA), Environmental Health Services, Health Risk Assessment, Site Assessment, and Consultation, and Well Management. 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: See below for a suggested reword of this section.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: "Site Assessment and Consultation" is one program within the Environmental Health Division. Environmental Health Division Org Chart (just for reference if that is helpful to ID programs of interest to the WMO - feel free to contact me with questions)



Minnesota Department of Health. The Environmental Health Division of the MDH operates many programs of interest to the Board. Programs include Drinking Water Protection (which includes Source Water and Wellhead Protection), Well Management, Health Risk Assessment (including the Fish Consumption Guidance Program which partners with the DNR and MPCA for the Interagency Fish Contaminant Program), Site Assessment and Consultation, and other environmental health services. MDH’s Drinking Water Protection Section is responsible for the administration and enforcement of the Safe Drinking Water Act, which includes federal drinking water quality standards and requirements for a Wellhead Protection program, among other regulations.



Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. The DNR manages and protects the state’s natural resources and operates numerous programs.  The department provides technical assistance and information regarding best management practices, natural resource management, incorporating natural resource conservation in land use planning, and lakescaping.



The DNR Fisheries Division monitors and improves fisheries within the state including many of the lakes within the watershed.  It also promotes fishing opportunities and provides grants to assist in the construction of fishing piers. The Ecological and Water Resources (EWR) Division focuses on an overarching vision of “Healthy Watersheds throughout Minnesota.” “Healthy Watersheds” include: 1) sustainable quantities and qualities of water; 2) sustainable levels of biodiversity; 3) well-functioning ecosystem services; and 4) sustainable and vibrant natural resource economies and recreational opportunities. The EWR Division also provides the following services:



· It maintains an inventory of public waters and operates permit programs for working in public waters or for appropriating public waters;  

· Oversees the state’s floodplain management program;

· Provides local stewardship by coordinating the Mississippi River Critical Area and MNRAA programs and the Shoreland Management program;

· Collects, analyzes, and provides ecological information, including:

· Location and management of rare resources (endangered and threatened species, critical habitats, high quality natural communities);

· Management of harmful exotic species, fish and wildlife diseases, and negative environmental impacts of human development;

· Management and restoration of important ecological processes in river systems and key natural areas; and

· Development of information about Minnesota's ecosystems and their significance to a sustainable quality of life.



The DNR’s webpage at dnr.state.mn.us/lakefind/index.html is LakeFinder, a DNR supported tool that combines information from various DNR Divisions, as well as other state agencies, such as Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (water quality) and Minnesota Department of Health (fish consumption). This tool contains data for more than 4,500 lakes and rivers throughout Minnesota.

The DNR also provides a variety of specialized programs oriented to property owners or neighborhood groups, such as the Aquatic Plant Management, Urban Fisheries and Fishing in the Neighborhood, Neighborhood Wilds, and Metro Greenways programs.



Minnesota Department of Agriculture. The MDA is statutorily responsible for the management of pesticides and fertilizer other than manure to protect water resources. The MDA implements a wide range of protection and regulatory activities to ensure that pesticides and fertilizer are stored, handled, applied and disposed of in a manner that will protect human health, water resources and the environment. The MDA works with the University of Minnesota to develop pesticide and fertilizer Best Management Practices (BMPs) to protect water resources, and with farmers, crop advisors, farm organizations, other agencies and many other groups to educate, promote, demonstrate and evaluate BMPs, to test and license applicators, and to enforce rules and statutes. The MDA has broad regulatory authority for pesticides and has authority to regulate the use of fertilizer to protect groundwater.

(This page intentionally blank.)





[bookmark: _Toc1576710584]Issues and Goals

This Plan section sets forth the Board’s Mission and Vision and discusses the problems and issues that were identified during the Plan development process and the goals and policies the Board will pursue to address them.   





[bookmark: _Toc476880311]Mission and Vision



The E-IGHWMO is a relatively new joint powers organization, but the member cities are not new to watershed management. The predecessor WMO, the Gun Club Lake WMO, had completed and implemented two ten-year management plans prior to disbanding when one member city withdrew. This WMO is relatively unique in the Metro Area: it is almost entirely comprised of land in one city—Eagan—and encompasses most of that city[footnoteRef:2]. It faces some special challenges defining a role for the Board that fulfills its statutory obligations without creating duplication of effort. [2:  1 E-IGHWMO is the successor to the former Gun Club Lake WMO that disbanded in 2014 when one member City withdrew.   ] 




The City of Eagan has a long history of active water and natural resources management. That part of the watershed that is in Inver Grove Heights is for the most part managed either according to a master plan (the Northwest Area) with stringent volume management requirements or by an existing cooperative agreement between the two cities. Both the member cities are regulated MS4s and are implementing Stormwater Pollution Prevention Programs that include numerous activities to manage stormwater and prevent water resource degradation. Therefore, most of the issues typically administered by WMOs and set forth in their statutory purpose, such as managing inter-community flows and ensuring uniformity of local policies and official controls, are currently managed by the two cities.  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is still really unclear - where is the Northwest Area with respect to the WMO Boundary? Which parts of the WMO are goverened by the volume requirements in the NW Area plan and which are governed by the cooperative agreement? What do they each say (with respect to impacts on the WMO, what are their rate and volume controls) and what are the differences between the two? Is all of the land in IGH within the WMO covered by one of these agreements? Further, what are Eagan's rate and volume controls? This information should be in the land & water resources section and then briefly referenced here for context.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Recommend stating whether or not the WMO feels the cities' actions, standards, controls, etc. ARE protective of water resources. The WMO has a role here.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: But ARE they uniform? Not at all clear from the plan.



Throughout this planning process, the Board discussed what it does well and their proudest efforts and accomplishments. Using their accomplishments as a guide, the Board developed a vision for roles in watershed management and a mission statement. Below is a list of current successful programs that the Board would like to continue into the 2nd Generation Plan.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is also copied from the old plan.



The Board is proud of its active and involved managers conducting community outreach and of positive partnerships with the City of Eagan and the City of Inver Grove Heights. Notable accomplishments and effective programs include:	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Is this the summary of Plan accomplishments as required by MR 8410.0045 Subp. 7?



· Community Engagement 

· E-IGHWMO tabling at community events

· Distribution of salt cups to raise awareness and change behavior around salt use for deicing

· Distribution of pet waste bags to raise awareness and change behavior around pet waste management

· Created Water Smart Yards Checklist 

· Water exhibits at Library and community theater events

· Traveling displays and engaging activities for City use with hands-on experiential learning tools 

· Adopt-a-Drain program

· Regular City Newsletter articles

· Updated Website 

· Educational Signage at City Hall- Sponsored City Hall Best Management Practices and Educational Signage	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: Add:  water-themed educational kits that can be checked out at Westcott (Eagan) or Inver Glen (Inver Grove Heights) locations	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: Also add:  Low-cost rain barrel sales 	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: Also add:  partnering with CLIMB Theater for elementary education and outreach programming

· Organized community clean-up days

· Organized and facilitated neighborhood meetings to engage citizens for improving water quality

· Led Minnesota Water Stewards	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: I know the WMO isn't currently doing this, but we did it strongly in the past 10 years.

· Presented at City Council meetings to communicate the WMO’s purpose and projects

· Contributed funding toward elementary school education programs on water quality



· Stormwater Management Practices

· Landscaping for Clean Water project support 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Nothing more for stormwater project support? Fine if not, just want to double-check.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: I think there is considerable overlap here, so I'm wondering if it makes sense to just have one list rather than two.





· Be citizen advocates for the protection and improvement of water resources in the watershed. 

· Provide targeted support as a partner with member cities to implement actions that will achieve the WMO’s and member cities’ water resource goals.

· Foster and support collaboration with multiple stakeholders.



MISSION STATEMENT



To implement programs and foster civic engagement within the watershed to promote citizen participation and responsibility in protecting and improving our water resources and to partner with member cities to achieve water resources goals.





[bookmark: _Toc352828586][bookmark: _Toc433869694][bookmark: _Hlk191556472]Assessment of Problems and Issues



The Board performed a Visioning and Gaps Analysis in February and March 2025 to identify problems and issues confronting water resources management in the watershed, and to rank those that were of high priority. The Board also took input from the member cities, review agencies, and citizen advisory committees. Table 4.1 shows the problems/issues in three general categories, generally in order of the number of high priority rankings received.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is also copied from the last plan, word for word, and I believe it overstates the discussion had by the Board. Having been at those meetings, I do not recall a visioning or gaps analysis exercise taking place.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Who/what organizations responded to the plan initiation notice? What input did they provide, did it align with the Board's thoughts, and how was input incorporated into the plan?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I agree that this information is missing. Note that MR 8410.0045 includes several subparts with requirements to not only solicit input, but to summarize, evaluate, and include (particularly agency goals) in the Plan (and if not included, explain why).	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Earlier in the plan it is stated that the Board has not established any standing Technical or Citizen’s Advisory Committees. Were these committees referenced here formed just for this purpose, or did they exist through the cities already, etc.? 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I believe there were come city-oriented committees that were supposed to have provided input, but there's nothing here desribing those committees nor any of the input that was received, yet alone how it was evaluated and included (or not). Again, this is required per MR 8410.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Rankings received from whom?











Table 4.1. Current E-IGH watershed issues discussed by the Board.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This captures one, maybe two, discussions by the Board  - which is really important and necessary for informing priority issues - but it's also background data. I would recommend putting this in the appendix (along with most of the survey data and a summary of other input received from agencies, cities, county, committees, etc) and instead create a list or table of prioritized issues that have been derived as a result of an evaluation ALL input, and agreed upon by the Board (per MR 8410.0045 Subp. 7) and put that here instead.

		Item

		Problem or Issue

		Discussion 



		Water Quality and Quantity



		A.

		There are impaired lakes in the watershed as well as lakes with good water quality. While LeMay, Fitz, and Fish Lakes have been delisted for nutrient impairments (and Carlson and Holz lakes will soon be delisted), North and Blackhawk lakes are impaired for Mercury. Several lakes are at risk for chloride impairment. 

		Protecting and improving lakes and other resources will require multiple strategies to achieve. Pollutant load and volume reduction projects (ie. Thomas lake nutrient reductions, trash management) need to be supplemented with maintenance practices, regulation, and education and outreach to multiple stakeholders. Maintaining water quality through practices such as LCW maintenance workshops will be a heightened focus as lakes are delisted. 



		B.

		Chloride is a contaminant of concern for surface and groundwater. Several lakes are at risk for chloride impairment in the future. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Duplicate - is listed in box above.

		The current program is successful and there are now others doing similar community engagement and education for chloride awareness. E-IGHWMO efforts could be redirected or expanded to target businesses and churches and address sources in addition to road salt, such as water softeners. The WMO could contribute financially to smart-salt design, subsidize city staff smart salt trainings, or distribute rebates for new water softeners.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How do you know?



		C.

		Existing shoreline practices don’t always reflect current best practices.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How does this relate to the Cities' lake plans?

		Education on shoreline stewardship for shoreline landowners and shoreline users could be expanded to highlight current best practices such as the importance of riparian buffers, reduce the prevalence of turf lawns, and educate about macroinvertebrate aquatic ecosystem health indicators. The E-IGHWMO use of the Landscaping for Clean Water program could be expanded to include more shoreline improvement work in the watershed. E-IGHWMO could install signage at fishing areas highlighting the importance of protecting shoreline vegetation.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Other action items could be model ordinances, working with realtors/lake associations, MLR Lake Stewards?



		D.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: There are several issues here. Consider whether the cities' models are sufficient to incorporate increased ppt and changes in frequency. Are they utilizing Atlas 15? 

		Climate change is altering rainfall and snowfall patterns and snowmelt patterns, affecting deicer usage, lake levels, and flooding concerns requiring updated water resource management and education needs. 

		As the cities develop climate action plans for infrastructure, the WMO wants to support these initiatives to protect water resources from future impacts. A changing climate also necessitates different expectations for lake levels, water use, deicing practices, and others, so the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO could incorporate these issues into education efforts.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How? By doing what?



		E.

		Aquatic invasive species can decrease lake quality and use.

		Nuisance aquatic invasive species (AIS) are damaging lake quality in the watershed. E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO could educate residents and lake users on reducing the spread of AIS via boat and plantings and could conduct AIS surveys or train volunteers how to survey and manage these volunteers.



		Education



		A.

		Some groups are not targeted effectively in education and outreach.

		E-IGHWMO education and outreach efforts could be refined to better target K-12 education and educators and to communicate effectively with community members whose primary language is notn’t English. E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO could provide educator grants to host a specialist to provide interactive water resource education in local schools or to support water resource-based field trips. Education and outreach could also be expanded or rotated through different venues to engage with the community such as hosting classes through Community Ed or Parks & Rec, partnering with the Climb Theater, and providing events with childcare or food or in easily accessible locations.  



		B.

		Difficult to track how well programs affect behavioral change.

		The WMO could find ways to measure the likely impact of its education programs such as the number of people contacted.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Surveys at events can be much more informative than just number of participants (trickier, too, I know). What about demogrpahics of participants - who are you NOT reaching? What can you do to better support participation, e.g. providing food, child care, meeting at different times/locations?





















		Groundwater



		A.

		Maintaining an adequate supply of clean, safe, drinkable groundwater is critical to human and environmental health in the watershed.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What is the status of the groundwater and level of vulnerability? There was very little in the resource overview to provide context for establishing action items around groundwater. I know the county has a GW plan, so you don't need to reiterate that, but if you don't know what you have, you can't come up with action items to manage it.

		E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO could support cities and residents with irrigation audits to recommend replacement systems. Education and project support programs such as such as water smart yards and Landscaping for Clean Water could include low water use lawns to reduce irrigation and include infiltration practices to recharge groundwater. However, in areas where stormwater infiltration is not allowed, recommended, or where a higher level of engineering review should be conducted prior to installing an infiltration BMP, these nuances will be assessed when considered restoring to pre-settlement groundwater recharge conditions. 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: While this addresses comments from MDH on this topic elsewhere in the plan, (thank you!), does it make sense to include this in this particular table since this is showing what the Board discussed? 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: It is hard to see with my comment covering it, but if keeping this here or if relocating this wording anywhere else, it should be "higher" level of engineering review (instead of just "high") to remain consistent with the stormwater manual.



		Other Issues



		A.

		Overlap of local water management planning and watershed and other agency planning.

		The E-IGHWMO is a small WMO almost entirely within Eagan and encompassing almost the entire City. Both Eagan and Inver Grove Heights, through their voluntary actions and those required by their NPDES permits, already undertake nearly all the responsibilities of the WMO. The challenge is to support and partner with the cities without replicating what is already being done.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Tell us what's being done. There's not much here that's tangible to really understand what the cities are actually doing and whether or not there are gaps that need to be filled to be more protective of the resources.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What IS the supporting role? Try to be specific.





[bookmark: _Toc352828589]






[bookmark: _Toc707867752]Community Survey Results 



To assess community opinions on Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization goals, the Board voted to incorporate a community survey as part of the 2nd Generation Plan development. The community survey was sent out to residents of the cities of Eagan and Inver Grove Heights to help the Board better understand community priorities as they relate to water resources. Community feedback has helped guide how the E-IGHWMO focuses their efforts on water quality, water quantity, groundwater and water-dependent natural resources, and other key issues over the next decade to allocate limited funding to address those issues. 



The E-IGHWMO Community Survey consists of 13 questions aimed at gauging watershed resident usage of water resources, most popular recreation areas, key watershed conservation initiatives for the E-IGHWMO to target, and more. 



The Community Survey was available for residents to complete for 30 days, and it received ~50 responses. Of the respondents, 46 live in the E-IGH watershed, 1 regularly spends time at lakes and ponds within the watershed, 1 does not live or spend time in E-IGH watershed, and 1 lives on the edge of the E-IGH and Lower Mississippi River watersheds [Question 1]. Additionally, 43 respondents live in the City of Eagan, while 5 respondents live in Inver Grove Heights, and 1 respondent preferred not to say where they live [Question 13].  



Most respondents recreate at the lakes, ponds, and wetlands in the E-IGH watershed by walking or biking the adjacent trails (43) or by casually viewing them and enjoying their aesthetics (41). Approximately 1/5 of respondents use the watershed’s water resources through swimming (13), non-motorized boating (16), or fishing (11), and remaining respondents view ponds in their backyards (4) [Question 2].



According to the survey, the most-used lakes in the watershed are Schulze Lake (36), Thomas Lake (29) and Holland Lake (29), Blackhawk Lake (22), Holz Lake (20), Fish Lake (18), and McDonough Lake (9). Respondents also used Bald Lake (5), Jensen Lake (5), Carlson Lake (4), Bur Oaks Pond (4), LeMay Lake (3), Fitz Lake (1), and several other smaller lakes [Question 3].



By far, most survey respondents interact with the E-IGHWMO through the Landscaping for Clean Water program (25), while others engage with the watershed through the Rain Barrel Program (8). Residents also interact with the WMO through the Water Smart Yards program (5) and through tables at city events (5). Several respondents also heard of E-IGHWMO through the Adopt-a-Drain program (2), Minnesota Water Stewards (2), and the E-IGHWMO Annual Report (2) [Question 4]. 



Respondents elected the following as the most pressing land use or environmental problems affecting the lakes, ponds, and wetlands in the watershed: 

1. Pollutants like sediment, road salt, and pet waste entering our lakes and wetlands, contributing to nutrient, mercury and chloride impairments (38). 

2. Maintaining an adequate supply of clean, safe, and potable groundwater is critical to human and environmental health in the watershed (26).

3. Climate change is altering rainfall, snowfall, and snowmelt patterns, which affects deicer usage, lake levels, and flooding concerns, requiring updated water resource management and education needs (22). 



Participants also expressed concerns that aquatic invasive species can degrade lake quality and use (12), there is a lack of 

abundance and diversity of wildlife and health of habitats for aquatic life (fish, bugs, plants) (11), 

that some groups are not targeted effectively in watershed education and outreach, such as K-12 students (7), 

chloride is an emerging contaminant for lakes due to road salt inputs (6), 

needing more water quality-centric shoreline practices (5), reducing erosion along shorelines (3), local watershed management planning overlapping with other agencies with competing priorities (2), difficulties tracking how watershed educational programs affect behavioral change (2), and flooding (1) [Question 5]. 



Residents participated in conservation practices on their properties, including planting native plants in their yards (40), limiting use of salt on pavements (36), participating in the Landscaping for Clean Water program (28), picking up trash or volunteering (23), picking up their pet’s waste regularly (22), direct downspouts to rain barrels (18), putting a rain garden in their yard (8), adopting a storm drain (5), adding vegetative buffers to their property’s shorelines (4), and taking a smart salting course (3), planting trees (1), and opposing development (1) [Question 6].



Many respondents would like additional information or support about planting drought tolerant or no mow grass seed (35), installing a rain garden or native plant garden (20), converting concrete areas to pervious pavers (13), adopting a storm drain to keep free of debris (13), reducing or eliminating salt use in the winter (12), joining a neighborhood community group to support each other in improving water quality (10), keeping grass clippings and leaves off the street (8), promoting shoreline health vegetation restoration (8), and aquatic invasive species identification (7) [Question 7]. Respondents are also interested in learning more about what their city is doing to protect water quality in lakes and wetlands (25), how to best maintain their property to protect lakes and wetlands through the Landscaping for Clean Water and Water Smart Yard programs (22), and activities they can do with their children or grandchildren to help them learn about water quality (16). Folks also want to learn more about identifying aquatic invasive species (10) and using less salt for ice control while still conserving safety (8) [Question 9]. 



Factors that have prevented respondents from participating in E-IGHWMO water quality conservation activities include support not being offered during available times (8), a preference for online programming (6), changes being costly and desiring grant support (5), grants not being large enough to help (5), and programs not being in a format that would work for the respondent (2). Nine respondents reported that they have participated in programming and did not have any issues becoming involved. Several respondents wrote that factors such as working during typical volunteer hours, lack of time, being unaware of programming, and living in a townhome that does not respond to requests for greener lawn options contributed to their inability to participate [Question 8].



Survey respondents all chose one issue that would be most important for the E-IGHWMO to tackle in the next ten years. The top issues were:

1. Providing more guidance and assistance to property owners who want to improve their own properties to protect water quality (14)

2. Improving water quality in lakes and ponds (13)



Other issues selected were homeowner outreach to promote water conservation, healthy shoreline practices, and water smart yards (9), reducing the amount of road salt in the watershed without compromising public safety (4), and minimizing spread of invasive species in lakes (3). One respondent each chose the following issues as their most important focus: reducing flooding of lakes and ponds, reducing flooding of city streets, K-12 education on water resources concerns, business education on limiting deicing salt use, volunteer programs on water resources education (ie. aquatic invasive species education, adopt-a-drain), and educating lawmakers on how unchecked development degrades water quality [Question 10].





[image: A graph with colorful bars

AI-generated content may be incorrect.]

Figure 4-1. Community survey results from Question 10 regarding which E-IGHWMO issue is the most important to respondents. 



Most respondents wanted to learn more about actions to protect and improve local lakes and ponds through community education classes (23) and grant programs with supportive trainings (ie. Landscaping for Clean Water). Other respondents wanted to learn more about protective actions through group volunteering (ie. drain stenciling), K-12 school education (13), and community events (ie. Climb Theatre) (11) [Question 11]. 



Finally, community members were asked to share any additional comments or questions about the education and outreach program in the watershed. Respondents hoped to see more direct canvassing out homes in the community on water resources topics, more awareness about the Landscaping for Clean Water Program in the community, more educational signage near lakes, ponds, and wetlands, more information and assistance with planting native plants in residential yards, tapping into other local groups to achieve WMO goals, hosting free sustainability courses, more neighborhood outreach for property owners, educating townhome and condominium members on introducing native plants, educating policy-makers, local lawmakers, and the public about reducing development, collaborating with the Dakota County Master Gardener volunteers, and integrating watershed management programs as a whole [Question 11]. 



[bookmark: _Toc837838752]Watershed Management Plan Priorities 



Priorities for watershed management have been determined using the community survey results and input from E-IGHWMO Board discussions during the Second-Generation Plan development process. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Per my previous comments, using these two data points alone is not sufficient to meet the requirements in MR 8410.0054 for developing priority issues. Data and trends identified under MR 8410.0060 must also be incorporated.



The following lakes are used the most frequently by community survey respondents. As such, they should be priority targets for water quality improvements in the E-IGHWMO plan. 	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: This list is not acceptable to the City of Eagan.  The member cities to this WMO have no jurisdiction over Schulze, Holland, or McDonough Lakes as they are within the Lebanon Hills Regional Park.  

1. Schulze Lake 

2. Thomas Lake 

3. Holland Lake 

4. Blackhawk Lake 

5. Holz Lake 

6. Fish Lake

7. McDonough Lake 



Community members designated the following as the three most pressing land use or environmental problems affecting the lakes, ponds, and wetlands in the E-IGHWMO watershed:

1. Pollutants like sediment, road salt, and pet waste entering lakes and wetlands and contributing to nutrient, mercury, and chloride impairments 

2. Maintaining an adequate supply of clean, safe, and potable groundwater is critical to human and environmental health in the watershed 

3. Climate change is altering rainfall, snowfall, and snowmelt patterns, which affects deicer usage, lake levels, and flooding concerns, requiring updated water resource management and education needs 



The following issues that the E-IGHWMO will be tackling in the next 10 years were identified as the most important to residents of Eagan and Inver Grove Heights in the community survey: 

1. Provide more guidance and assistance to property owners who want to improve their own properties to protect water quality 

2. Improve water quality the watershed’s lakes and ponds 	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: I'm not sure what this means.

3. Homeowner outreach to promote water conservation, healthy shoreline practices, and water smart yards 



Top issues that community survey respondents would like to learn more about include: 

1. How their cities protect lakes and wetlands and how to learn more about water quality

2. How best to maintain their properties to protect lakes and wetlands through the landscaping for Clean Water and Water Smart Yards programs 

3. What activities to undertake with children or grandchildren to help them learn more about water quality 

4. How to identify aquatic invasive species and reduce the spread to water bodies 


E-IGHWMO Board members would like to prioritize: 

1. Targeting priority pollutants through Landscaping for Clean Water efforts

2. Maintaining BMPs to ensure that lakes do not develop nutrient impairments 	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: The City does this, and it's part of our annual operating and 5-year CIP budgets.  I would just like this to be a little more specific so as not to give the impression we're double-dipping somehow.

3. Educating the community on shoreline buffers and aquatic invasive species surveys 

4. Applying for 

5. 

6. grants and supporting financial requests for future water resources conservation efforts

7. Encouraging cities to apply low salt design to developments 

8. Educating watershed residents on water conservation practices 



[bookmark: _Toc758431161]Management Plan Goals and Policies	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Goals need to be specific and measurable to address the identified priority issues, per MR 8410.0080.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Missing 8410.0080 Subp. 1 "a procedure must be included to evaluate progress for each goal defined in this part.."	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Policies? Which policies?



Based on input and review from the Board,  and Planningthe Sustainable Eagan Advisory Committeesssion, and [insert IGH body here], the Board of Managers has established the following priorities to guide this Management Plan:	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Should this come before the above image?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Who are these advisory committees?WATERSHED MANAGEMENT PLAN PRIORITIES



1. Undertake an active communication and engagement program with multiple stakeholders.

2. Educate the community and provide resources for actions they can take to improve water quality in the watershed.  

3. Partner with the cities to fill gaps in water resource assessment and management.







The Board has developed goals that will guide activities over the coming decade. These goals were derived from the discussions with Managers, Planning Advisory Committee members, state agency staffstakeholder groups, and staff at the Cities of Eagan and Inver Grove Heights. These goals will be achieved through implementation of the policies identified for each goal area.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This paragraph was copied from the old plan. There's very little in this plan to support the statement that the goals were derived with input from all of these sources. Futher, who is your planning advisory committee?



The framework to achieve these goals is set forth in the Implementation Plan detailed in the following sections. Member cities supplement and complement these actions with additional policies and programs tailored to their unique priorities and needs. Successful achievement of the goals in this Plan is dependent on those member cities and their dedication to this effort.



A high-priority goal for the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO is to raise awareness of water resources issues and opportunities, communicate with stakeholders about their potential roles and responsibilities in the management of those resources, and to effect positive changes. The Board will develop and implement a three-year Communication and Outreach Plan that sets forth more detailed messages, strategies, and metrics for evaluating and measuring change in attitudes and behaviors. The Board will periodically review its Communication and Outreach Plan and work together with its partners to update priority messages, strategies, and metrics based on current needs.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: There are three goals listed here, not just one.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What does "periodically review" look like? Will the three-year plan be updated every three years, or ??? 



To meet its broad goal areas in Water Quality and Quantity, Groundwater, and Education, the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO will target public involvement and education on management and protection of water resources. It will develop and disseminate through a variety of media and delivery practices information about water resources, stormwater management, aquatic invasive species, salt use, shoreline protection and other topics developed in a three-year Communication and Outreach Plan. 



The WMO publishes an annual report providing an overview of conditions of the waters in the watershed, a summary of E-IGHWMO efforts, and actions stakeholders can take to protect and improve those waters. 



E-IGHWMO will partner with entities such as its member cities, Dakota County, Dakota SWCD, nonprofit organizations, Watershed Partners, University Extension, and others to maximize cost-effectiveness, ensure consistency of messaging, and increase audience reach. Finally, it will engage volunteers such as MasterMinnesota Water Stewards, Naturalists, and Gardeners, youth organizations, faith groups, and service clubs to extend the reach of the Board. Finally, it will engage volunteers such as Landscaping for Clean Water residents, youth organizations, K-12 students, Adopt-a-Drain and trash clean-up participants, K-12 environmental education specialists,CLIMB theater, libraries, and Earth Week organizers. Through these methods, the E-IGHWMO will engage with residents to change behavior to better protect water resources and will educate residents to understand the impact of land use and management decisions on water resources. 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: These two sentences are worded similarly and have a lot of overlap - suggest revisiting.



[bookmark: _Toc352828590][bookmark: _Toc934003835]Water Quantity	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Much of this text is copied from the old plan - I don't think it's accurate. There were "policies" in the old plan, but once this new plan is adopted, those policies will no longer be in force. Further, those policies had quantifiable outcomes that should be re-evaluated and considered for inclusion in this plan to meet the requirements outlined in MR 8410.0080.



A statutory responsibility of watershed management organizations is minimizing the public expense to mitigate flooding. This Plan accomplishes this by ensuring that development and redevelopment do not create excessive new volumes and rates of runoff that may cause downstream flooding. A second responsibility is promoting groundwater recharge, which impacts stream baseflow, wetland hydrology and lake levels. The E-IGHWMO does not operate a regulatory program since both cities implement stormwater management ordinances and MS4 programs, but by policy limits the rate at which member cities can discharge runoff from development and redevelopment. The Board also encourages the member cities, as well as MnDOT and Dakota County, to limit the volume of runoff by requiring and providing infiltration of runoff greater than the requirements of the NPDES Construction Permit, and by undertaking and encouraging voluntary infiltration BMPs. Eagan and Inver Grove Heights have in place a Joint Powers Agreement establishing intercommunity discharge rates.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I see nothing in this plan that ensures rate and volume control to prevent flooding.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: The WMO is not conducting routine plan review on new and re-development projects.  They would provide feedback on our ordinances when they're up for revision, but that's not currently planned.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which policy is this? And what is the rate limit?	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: There is a JPA between the cities that limits discharge rates between the two municipalities.  (~5.66 cfs / acre of drainage) - but the WMO isn't directly involved with that.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Ah! Perfect! This is exacty the type of information that should be clearly included in the plan. While the WMO does have statutory authority to establish controls, per MN Statute 103B.201 (4), they don't need to exercise that authority if they feel the city standards are protective of water resources. I don't think any of that is clearly laid out in this plan, and it should be.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What are these rates? Does the WMO feel these are sufficiently protective of water resources?








		[bookmark: _Toc352828591]Goal Area 1: Water Quantity



		#

		Goals 

		Action Items 



		1.1

		Maintain the existing 100-year flood capacity to minimize flood damage to private and public property and minimize public capital expenditures needed to correct flooding problems.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How are you measuring this? It might be more appropriate and realistic to have a goal be to ensure that the cities are doing this, per their plans and your requirements (that were referred to above, even though I'm not sure they exist). You can still incorporate your action items in support of their work.

		A. Leverage grant dollars to partner on two flood capacity projects by member cities. Leverage grant dollars to partner on two volume reduction projects as requested by member cities to reduce downstream flooding.

B. Incorporate flood damage messaging into the communication and outreach plan, emphasizing the cost savings of stewardship and runoff volume reduction as opposed to repairing and restoring after damage has occurred. Incorporate runoff volume reduction messaging into the communication and outreach plan, emphasizing the importance of effective stormwater management for reducing the impact of runoff volumes on downstream flooding.



		1.2

		Reduce stormwater runoff volume and increase infiltration and groundwater recharge.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Reduce by how much? Compared to what? How is this measured? Consider looking at the LCW projects that have been done over the past 10 years and using those to set a numeric goal for runoff volume reduction based on the number of project you think you'll do over the next ten years.

		A. Fund ten stormwater management projects per year through the Landscaping for Clean Water Program.Fund ten stormwater management projects per year through a cost-share program such as the Landscaping for Clean Water Program.

B. Address groundwater recharge through three community outreach events targeted at designing Water Smart Yards and irrigation system improvements, educating the public on water scarcity issues.Address stormwater runoff and groundwater usage reduction through three community outreach events targeted at designing low water use landscapes and irrigation systems and educating the public on reducing irrigation water usage.

C. Hold a targeted neighborhood meeting annually to educate and engage citizens in advance of stormwater management improvement projects by member cities.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: No. The WMO is welcome to attend general ed events, but we will continue to handle neighborhood engagement on our annual CIP projects.

D. Participate in member city processes when cities update land use and stormwater policies and ordinances to promote water quality and quantity protections for local water resources.Identify areas for E-IGHWMO involvement through education and outreach. Consider drinking water supply management areas (DWSMAs) when promoting infiltration and mitigate the possible introduction of new contaminants or exacerbation of existing contamination. Participate in member city processes when cities update land use and stormwater policies and ordinances to promote infiltration and reduce runoff rates and volumes to water resources. Identify areas for E-IGHWMO involvement through education and outreach.



		1.3

		Facilitate the management of intercommunity stormwater flows.



		A. If requested, coordinate intercommunity stormwater runoff design and planning with the member communities, similar to the existing agreement between Eagan and Inver Grove Heights.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Again, part of the purpose of a WMO is to establish uniform local policies. If the existing agreements and controls are adequate, great! If not, then the WMO should lead these efforts, not wait until requested. I might suggest an update to the goal to be "ensure adequate management of intercommunity stormwater flows, particularly with respect to changing precipitation patterns" and the action item is to have a timeframe for facilitating periodic reviews of existing frameworks, e.g. every two years, every five years, whatever's appropriate.








[bookmark: _Toc584157261]Water Quality



Water quality and the ability to enjoy the lakes in the watershed is a high priority to the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO. The water quality of many of the lakes in the watershed is within or better than state nutrient standards. Two Three lakes have been delisted from their designation as Impaired Waters and now meet standards for recreational use, and two other lakes (Carlson and Holz) lakes are expected to be delisted by 2026. The City of Eagan has developed a plan of action to protect and maintain water quality in the delisted lakes by preventing nutrient backsliding. To protect and improve water quality in lakes and wetlands in the watershed and to protect downstream water resources, the E-IGHWMO encourages the member cities, as well as MnDOT and Dakota County, to limit pollutant loading to water resources by requiring and providing infiltration or filtration of runoff greater than the requirements of the NPDES Construction Permit, by preventing erosion and sedimentation, and by undertaking and encouraging voluntary infiltration or filtration BMPs in areas where groundwater and human health can remain protected.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How does the WMO encourage member cities to go above and beyond NPDES requirements? 



		[bookmark: _Toc352828592]Goal Area 2: Water Quality



		#

		Goals

		Action Items 



		2.1

		Achieve, maintain, or improve water quality in the watershed's lakes so that each lake meets or exceeds the State of Minnesota intended use and classification and water quality standards.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which thing are you doing for which water bodies? It's not realistic to achieve water quality standards for all water bodies, nor do all of them need to be improved. Some need to be maintained. This goal is not measurable without futher refinement. This is part of why prioritizing water resources is so important; it helps you to create goals that are actually measurable and achieveable AND helps target where the work will take place. Where can you get the most bang for your buck? Where do folks WANT you to work? Where can you SEE results? 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which parameters? You'll need to be specific in order to be measurable. Say which pollutants you are targeting and how much you hope to reduce them. Look at the projects done over the past 10 years and project forward to come up with an estimate.

		A. Leverage grant funding and cost-share programs to support member cities with implementation of at least three water quality capital improvement projects including in-lake treatments.Leverage grant funding and WMO resources to support member cities with implementation of at least two water quality capital improvement projects including stormwater water quality infrastructure and in-lake treatments.	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: Is this saying the WMO is going to do these action items? I don't know that the board is equipped to leverage grant funds, develop a training program, conduct surveys, etc.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Adjusting for inflation :)

B. Provide financial support to Cconduct submerged aquatic vegetation surveys for five key lakes in the watershed aligned to support planned lake studies by the City of Eagan. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which lakes?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us:  Not totally clear how these activities will directly contribute to your water quality goal. Also just a reminder that anything you hope to fund with WBIF must have a primary water quality benefit (obviously, not everything in a plan is intended to be paid for with WBIF, as I know you know). 

C. DevelopSolicit interested volunteers to existing aquatic vegetation and aquatic invasive species training programs for community volunteers to spot invasive species and track changes in aquatic vegetation. Engage two volunteers per surveyed lake to conduct annual spot checks for tracking assessments. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Alone, or in collaboration with a partner/partners?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Which lakes?

D. Distribute water quality newsletter each year to the public with annual lake water quality trend analyses, with metrics on water quality goals and information on completed improvement projects.Communicate water quality updates each year to the public. Updates may include annual lake water quality trend analyses, metrics on water quality goals, and information on completed improvement projects. Additionally, provide educational messages on water quality topics such as the importance of restricting the surface runoff of household chemicals, yard waste, illicit discharges, and pet waste to lakes within the watershed. Communications may be through city newsletters or WMO outlets such as emails, website, and social media posts.

E. Participate in two collaborative efforts to improve water quality, such as the Metropolitan Council Subregional Engagement effort.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How is this measured?	Comment by fossme@gmail.com: another community event to share information at is the Dakota County Master Gardeners Let's Grow workshop in the spring	Comment by fossme@gmail.com: Is there a way  that we can share how important it is to have the water softener settings properly calibrated for efficient salt use with the general public, not just with the 10 grants to homeowners?



		2.2

		Protect water resources from chloride impacts.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How is this measurable? Something like "no net increase in chloride levels" or "no new impairments" would be measurable, for example. You could also have priority waterbodies to target for outcomes.

		A. Provide deicing salt reduction education at two events annually. Outreach may include information on the impact of salt and chloride on water bodies, distribution of salt cups, information on local efforts to reduce deicing salt use, and discussion of ways to minimize the need for deicing salt. Provide deicing salt reduction education at two events annually. Outreach may include items such as: information on the impact of salt and chloride on water bodies, distribution of salt cups, and information on local efforts to reduce deicing salt use.

B. Promote MPCA Smart Salting Trainings annually each winter for businesses and residents in the watershed through targeted communication with local business owners and property managers and through website postings. Promote chloride impact reduction actions annually each winter for businesses and residents in the watershed through targeted communication with local business owners and property managers, local training events, and website postings. Efforts may host local training sessions and utilize messaging from existing programs such as MPCA Smart Salting and the Dakota County Low Salt No Salt program.

C. Provide grant support to 10 local business owners or property managers.Leverage funding support to 10 local business owners or property managers. Prioritize businesses and properties within high vulnerability DWSMAs.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: What types of projects will grants be awarded for?

D. ProvideLeverage financial support grants tofor 10 homeowners to remove or reduce home water softener use (e.g. provide information on settings for water softeners that reduce salt use). Prioritize grants for softeners on private septic systems while recognizing that grants to homeowners discharging to regional wastewater treatment facilities reduce treatment needs and benefit downstream watersheds.	Comment by serrante@yahoo.com: Instead of grants, see about rebate and lower waterfall if you install a water conditioner to replace the water softener. Again the chart shows water softeners contributing over 40% chloride. A push for legislation to try and speed up the reduction with us spreading the word. 

E. Partner with member cities to encourage efforts for reducing deicing salt use through the design of low salt programs and minimizing the need for deicing salt.



		2.3

		Prevent erosion of the soil into surface water systems.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How is this measurable? Look at past projects to estimate a quantifiable amount of soil erosion that's prevented based on anticipated activities.

		A. Support three erosion control and stabilization projects in partnership cities. Initial site to target is Pony Art Park. 	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: There is an ongoing JPA over the art park so IDK if this should be here.

B. Promote installation of water quality BMPs, such as bio-infiltration and filtration basins and shoreline and wetland native buffers, by providing information and educational opportunities to property owners and by funding at least ten Landscaping for Clean Water projects per year. Promote installation of water quality BMPs, such as bioinfiltration and filtration basins and shoreline and wetland native buffers, by providing information and educational opportunities to property owners and by funding at least ten projects per year through a cost-share program such as the Landscaping for Clean Water Program. In addition, this will help prevent backsliding for lakes that meet or exceed the State of Minnesota water quality goals. 

C. Promote the Adopt-a-Drain program to clean out storm drain collection areas of silt and debris throughout the year through annual volunteer recruitment events.Promote the Adopt-a-Drain program through four annual volunteer events with Hamline to clean out storm drain collection areas of silt and debris throughout the year.

D. Provide technical assistance to homeowner including layout, mid-point, and final inspections for raingardens, native plantings, and shoreline stabilization via the SWCD.  



		2.4

		Protect and enhance fish and wildlife habitat and water recreational facilities.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Where are you prioritizing these activities?

		A. Post signage raising awareness of invasive species at five popular recreational waterbodies in the watershed.Post signage raising awareness of invasive species and/or native landscapes at five popular recreational waterbodies in the watershed.

B. Leverage financial resources to support improvements in fishing access points (ie. new piers, shore fishing spots) or aquatic habitat at two waterbodies.Improve fishing access points (ie. new piers, shore fishing spots) at two waterbodies.

C. Partner with DNR and assist in aquatic invasive species education, early detection, and rapid response through three community education program events.

D. Conduct at least five shoreline health evaluations for landowners annually or support cities with cost share program. Support shoreline health evaluations as aligned with city needs in the watershed to support planned lake studies by member cities.	Comment by masanori.sarah@gmail.com: Again - is the WMO equipped to conduct this evaluation? Or, is the WMO supporting the city in conducting an evaluation?	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I would echo Sarah's request for clarity on these and similar actions. 

E. Promote shoreline vegetation restoration annually through community outreach and education events. Leverage participation by residents who participate in shoreline restoration programs or highlight their stories on the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO website. Promote native shoreline vegetation restoration annually through community outreach and education events. Leverage participation by residents who participate in shoreline restoration programs or highlight their stories on the E-IGHWMO website.

F. Host annual public engagement event to educate citizens about healthy lake shorelines, causes of lake algal blooms, aquatic macrophytes and macroinvertebrates that are indicators of aquatic ecosystem health, and other water quality topics.Host annual public engagement event to educate citizens about healthy lake shorelines, causes of lake algal blooms, aquatic macrophytes and macroinvertebrates that are indicators of aquatic ecosystem health, and other water quality topics. (i.e. Landscaping for Clean Water Shoreland Workshops)



		2.5

		Raise public awareness about mercury exposure through fish consumption particularly in mercury-impaired North and Blackhawk lakes. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: How is this a water quality goal? This is education/outreach. Very important, but not making any contribution to water quality improvements.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: PFAS was added in the action item, but not in the goal. Recommend that they match. Note than in addition to the lakes with fish consumption guidelines due to PFOS, Fish Lake is also impaired due to mercury and has fish consumption guidelines due to mercury and PFOS. Also, McDonough is not impaired but does have fish consumption guidelines. (North Lake does not currently have any specific fish consumption guidelines but that is more due to the lack of testing). Based on the impairments and MDH consumption guidelines, Fish Lake would be the #1 priority for raising public awareness based on public health risk.

		A. Raise public awareness about impaired aquatic consumption to reduce public health risk of contamination through holding two fish consumption mercury-focused events or outreach efforts. Raise awareness about impaired aquatic consumption to reduce public health risk  through two fish consumption mercury-focused or PFAS-focused events or outreach efforts. (e.g. signage at access areas, social media posts, etc.)










[bookmark: _Toc1512423451]Groundwater



The Board has a limited role in groundwater management activities. Over the past two decades, the member cities have completed and adopted Wellhead Protection Plans that are approved by worked with the Minnesota Department of Health to undertake or complete and adopt wellhead protection plans and to and have implemented policies and official controls to protect drinking water sources., and Dakota County has also undertaken a number of actions as detailed in its 2020-2030 Groundwater Plan (Dakota County 2021). The E-IGHWMO’s role is limited to encouraging groundwater recharge through infiltration in accordance with wellhead protection plans and raising awareness about groundwater and water conservation issues.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Is the WMO really limited to these two things? I think you're selling yourselves short. You can (and should) be collaborating wtih partners (e.g. MDH, Dakota County, Dakota SWCD) to undertake projects that are protective of GW in addition to the ed/outreach activities you do.



		Goal Area 3: Groundwater



		#

		Goals / Objectives

		Action Items / Policies



		3.1

		Protect the quality and quantity of groundwater resources.  and pPromote groundwater recharge where protective of groundwater quality and human health.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Noted there's nothing specific to drinking water here, despite that being a top priority for several groups/entities who gave input on the plan.

		A. Fund implementation of five groundwater recharge BMPs, such as infiltration, bioswales, or permeable pavements, in the watershed to infiltrate stormwater runoff and support natural water absorption.Fund implementation of groundwater recharge BMPs, such as infiltration, bioswales, or permeable pavements in the watershed to infiltrate stormwater runoff and support natural water absorption in areas where groundwater and human health can remain protected. Fund at least ten projects per year through a cost-share program such as the Landscaping for Clean Water Program.

B. Incorporate groundwater system and aquifer recharge education into one public education outreach event each year to raise awareness of water conservation and recharge, potentially using a watershed model. (i.e. Landscaping for Clean Water Introductory Class)

C. Develop visual display of local groundwater system to promote understanding and share on the E-IGH website. Develop visual display of local groundwater system to promote understanding and share on the E-IGHWMO website. 

D. Promote water conservation, particularly reducing water use for irrigation, implementing Water Smart Lawns, and incorporating water reuse tactics in priority groundwater recharge areas listed in the Groundwater Protection Plan by distributing educational pamphlets to fifty community members.Promote water conservation, particularly reducing water use for irrigation and incorporating water reuse tactics in priority groundwater recharge areas listed in the Groundwater Protection Plan through targeted education outreach to at least fifty community members. Efforts may leverage programs such as WaterSmart Yards, U of Mn Extension, Water Wisely, MetCouncil and/or EPA WaterSense and may include participation in local events such as Lakefest or the Groundwater Source-Water Protection Collaborative. 

E. Collaborate with member cities and Dakota County to protect groundwater sources through educational outreach on well sealing practices and value. 








[bookmark: _Toc352828593][bookmark: _Toc2007772605]Wetlands



The Board’s primary tool for managing wetlands is the State of Minnesota’s Wetland Conservation Act (WCA). Eagan and Inver Grove Heights are the responsible Local Government Units (LGU) for administration of the Wetland Conservation Act within the watershed. Certain actions affecting a wetland, such as draining or filling through construction or development, may require a permit or some other authorization through WCA and often some other regulatory agency such as the US Army Corps of Engineers or the MNDNR. Applicants will need to show efforts to avoid or minimize wetland impacts and may be required to replace drained or filled wetland area. In addition, BWSR has developed a method to evaluate and quantify how well individual wetlands provide functions such as flood storage or values such as habitat. Those functions and values assessments can be used to classify the quality of wetlands, and the highest quality wetlands may have additional regulatory protections. Both cities have completed inventories or a framework for the completion of wetlands functions and values assessments and have a classification system for those wetlands and official controls to regulate wetland impacts. The E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO’s role is to educate the public about the functions and values of wetlands and promote their preservation or restoration.	Comment by david.depaz@state.mn.us: There is a good number of public water wetlands within the watershed. Although WCA most likely covers more wetlands, Public Water permitting does limit the impact to wetlands as well. I appreciate the mention that there is potential for needed authorization for public water work. 





		Goal Area 4: Wetlands



		#

		Goals / Objectives

		Action Items / Policies



		4.1

		Protect, restore, or enhance wetlands to improve or maintain their functions and values.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Where are you protecting, where are you restoring, where are you enhancing? How is this measurable? Note that you must have priority areas for wetlands in your plan, per 8410.0060. You can incorporate what the cities are doing if their goals/priorities are in alignment with the WMOs. But, you also need to be clear on who is doing what, where.

		A. Incorporate education on the benefits and functions of

wetlands at one event annually and promote / recruit community volunteers to participate in the Wetland Health Evaluation Program (WHEP)








[bookmark: _Toc1572253269][bookmark: _Toc352828596]Implementation Plan 

[bookmark: _Hlk198629018]Potential operating programs were reviewed during the planning process and are described in this section. This section includes a summary of planned programs including regulatory, monitoring and technical assistance, education and outreach, cost-share, and capital improvements along with a cost estimate for operations over the coming ten-year period (Table 5.2). To achieve the goals set forth in this Plan, the Board will primarily focus on its education and outreach program and will work with its partners to complete work that supports member cities to ensure goals are being achieved.  	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Table 5.2 is the implementation table, correct? Ensure that any changes made in the above chapter are also made in the table so that they match. It is also a bit confusing that chapter 4 lists "goals" for some topics and "goals/objectives" for others, while the table just has "objectives". Similarly, chapter 4 has "action items" for some topics and "action items/policies" for others, while the table has "planned action descriptions". This is confusing and should be consistent to make sure readers can follow the plan.

[bookmark: _Hlk198503037]

[bookmark: _Toc639089528]Coordination with Other Agencies



The E-IGHWMO is unlike most other WMOs in the Twin Cities Metro Area. The watershed lies almost entirely in one city and comprises almost that entire city. A typical Metro area WMO encompasses several cities, and drainage boundaries do not coincide with municipal boundaries. Therefore, the need for many of the ‘traditional’ WMO functions of coordinating management and regulatory policies, stormwater runoff rates, volumes, and water quality between cities is very limited. However, those statutory purposes still must be addressed, whether by the WMO or by the cities or other agencies. Because of this, the E-IGHWMO defined its primary role as collaboration on member city implementation programs and supporting civic engagement to promote the improvement of water resources.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: The WMO still has a statutory role to play here. For now, the cities are doing GREAT work and there's very little for the WMO to do. But, what if the councils change and the cities go in a different direction? What if they break their JPA for stormwater management and no longer collaborate? What if water resource management is no longer a priority for the cities? Yes, there's the NPDES permit, etc. but is that sufficient for the WMO? Nothing to be "done", per se, but I suggest not limitimg the WMO's capacity by writing a lack of action into the plan.



MS 103B.201, which is reproduced in Section 1.0 of this Plan, sets forth the purpose of water management planning in the Metro area.  



[bookmark: _Toc1165884287]Regulatory Program



The E-IGHWMO does not operate a regulatory program. Both member cities are MS4s with approved permits to discharge stormwater, and they along with Dakota County and MnDOT as MS4s, will be responsible for ensuring that development, redevelopment, and construction meet NPDES requirements. Both cities currently operate a permitting program and have local controls in place consistent with the E-IGHWMO policies. Local Water Management Plans are expected to include an overview of the official controls and procedures the member cities have in place to assure that land disturbing activity in the watershed is conducted consistent with E-IGHWMO policies.  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Part of the purpose of the WMO is to ensure that the cities' standards are protective enough, and, if not, to create their own. So, are these requirements sufficient to be protective of water resources? If they are, great! Please say so.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: There are no policies in or associated with this plan. This text was copied from the old plan.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Again, there are no policies in or associated with this plan. This text was copied from the old plan.



E-IGHWMO will participate in member city processes when cities update land use and stormwater policies and ordinances to promote water quality and quantity protections for local water resources. If requested, E-IGHWMO will coordinate intercommunity stormwater runoff design and planning with the member communities, similar to the existing agreement between Eagan and Inver Grove Heights. Also, E-IGHWMO will participate in collaborative efforts to improve water quality. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: See my comment from goal table, above.



[bookmark: _Toc1395309559]Monitoring and Technical Assistance Program	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: MR 8410.0105 Subp. 5: Each plan must address whether established water quality, water quantity, and other monitoring programs implemented by the organization and others are capable of producing an accurate evaluation of the progress being made toward the goals defined under part 8410.0080. The programs shall, at a minimum, include the location of sampling, the frequency of sampling, the proposed parameters to be measured, and the requirement of periodic analysis of the data. Each organization must annually submit the collected data that has been quality-controlled and quality-assured to the appropriate state agency.



The E-IGHWMO does not operate a water quality monitoring program. The City of Eagan and other partners monitor the quality of lakes and wetlands in the watershed. Those partners will be required to annually or periodically present monitoring data and water quality trends to the Board. The WMO will work together with its partners to disseminate monitoring results in its annual report and in other formats as desired. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What does this mean? Periodically could be once every 10 years.



E-IGHWMO will conduct support monitoring of submerged aquatic vegetation and shoreline health in watershed lakes to support comprehensive lake management evaluations.  Surveys will be conducted on five key lakes in the watershed aligned to support planned lake studies by member cities. Beyond surveys, E-IGHWMO will developpromote existing aquatic an aquatic vegetation and aquatic invasive species training programs for community volunteers to spot invasive species and track changes in aquatic vegetation. Two volunteers per surveyed lake will be tasked with conducting annual spot checks for tracking assessments.  



E-IGHWMO will also providesupport technical assistance to homeowners including layout, mid-point, and final inspections for raingardens, native plantings, and shoreline stabilization through the Landscaping for Clean Water Program. 



[bookmark: _Hlk198503132]	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: The above image containing Communication and Public Outreach Program Goals appears to be in a slightly off place. There is also another very similar one 2 pages down - which one will be used? This one does not include groundwater, which I would recommend including in the final goal statement.COMMUNICATION AND PUBLIC OUTREACH PROGRAM GOALS



The goal of the E-IGHWMO’s Education & Outreach Program is to engage people in the community in the protection and improvement of lakes, rivers, streams and wetlands through education, increased water awareness, and community participation.  



[bookmark: _Toc1350274515][bookmark: _Toc352828602]Education and Outreach Program



Communication and Public Outreach is a core function of the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization. The Board will develop and implement a three-year Communication and Outreach Plan that sets forth more detailed messages, strategies, and metrics for evaluating and measuring change in attitudes and behaviors. The Board will periodically review its Communication and Outreach Plan and work together with its partners to update priority messages, strategies, and metrics based on current needs. Developing partnerships with the member cities, Dakota County, lake associations, nonprofits, and other interested parties will be key to widespread dissemination of information. The goal of the education and outreach program will be to balance many components of a healthy watershed, including hydrology, biology, connectivity, geomorphology, and water quality to provide a holistic education program. Education programs that address wetland restorations will couple the wetland restoration with upland habitat to increase water quality, as well as habitat. 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What does this mean? You have a three-year plan; how often will you review it? Suggest being more specific.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: This is another goal statement too, this one being much different from the other two.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: It's also unclear how education directly impacts geomorphology, for example. I'm confused by this sentence.



Stakeholder Goals. Stakeholders and target audiences are individuals or groups to whom communication is being directed. The Plan has identified the following target audiences and general goals for each. Often more than one target audience will benefit from an educational activity.  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What about government officials? Business owners? Realtors? Much of this section is copied from the old plan, which isn't a problem if it's still relevant and prioritized by the Board. Just want to be sure. 



1. All property owners and residents (residential and non-residential) 

· Understand that they live in a watershed and know where their stormwater runoff goes 

· Understand nutrient and chloride sources and their impacts on lakes, wetlands, and streams 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Maybe groundwater too? And/or see next comment.

· Understand how runoff rates and volumes affect lakes, wetlands and streams  

· Understand groundwater processes and the importance of protecting the quality and quantity of groundwater resources 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: In addition to this, it would be great to see something related to what you have earlier in the plan regarding land use: "educate residents to understand the impact of land use and management decisions on water resources". It would be great if residents could understand that the decisions we make and the things that we do on the land impact our waters, including those like groundwater that we cannot see.

· Understand and undertake Best Management Practices (BMPs) on their properties to reduce nutrient and chloride loads and runoff volume 

· Participate in volunteer activities or events 

 

2. Lakeshore property owners 

· Know the water quality status of their lake, and the types and magnitude of actions needed to protect and improve lake water quality 

· Understand the importance of healthy lake shorelines and implement natural shoreline protection methods 

· Understand and participate in activities to reduce the risk of Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS) 

· Understand and undertake Best Management Practices such as native shoreline buffers and proper application of fertilizer, herbicides, and pesticides 

. 

3. Educators and students 

· Create opportunities for volunteer monitoring, service projects, and other hands-on learning 

· Educators are aware of and have access to continuing education centered around water resources 

· Educators and Students understand that they live in a watershed and know where their stormwater runoff goes 

· Educators and Students understand nutrient and chloride sources and their impacts on lakes, wetlands, and streams 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: maybe groundwater too? especially chloride

 

4. Water-based recreation users 

· Know the water quality and fishery status of the lake and the types and magnitude of actions needed to protect and improve it 

· Understand and take action to reduce the risk of Aquatic Invasive Species (AIS) 

· Understand the risks of impaired aquatic fish consumption and reduce contamination risk 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Is the goal to reduce further contamination of the impaired waterbodies? Or is the goal to reduce public health risk? If the latter, recommend rewording to something like reduce public health risk, reduce health risk, or reduce risk of negative health effects instead of reducing contamination.	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: It would be to address public health risk.  Unfortunately there is little to nothing we can do to address mercury impairments as it's primarily from atmospheric deposition.  We can ensure people know it's there and it can be dangerous, though.	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: For sure! I agree the goal would be to educate residents/users to reduce their exposure/have them understand the risks, vs. actually reducing mercury or something.

· Participate in volunteer activities or events 

 

Community Survey Education Goals. In May 2025, the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO sent out a community survey to gauge what residents in the watershed deemed to be priorities for water resources management to help guide E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO plan development. Residents voted for several education and outreach goals to be high priority in the E-IGH plan development. These include:  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: I'm not sure why this is separate from the above. Why not use this data to inform the previous section? Also, some of these are action items, some are topics. It's quite inconsistent. 



· Water resources education needs to reflect altered rainfall, snowfall, and snowmelt patterns and consequently affected de-icer usage, lake levels, and flood concerns due to climate change.  

· Watershed education and outreach should more effectively target groups such as K-12 students and townhome/condo owners.  

· More awareness should be spread about Landscaping for Clean Water Programming in the community.  

· More educational signage about aquatic invasive species should be placed near lakes, ponds, and wetlands. 

· More information and assistance about native plantings should be provided in residential yards.  

· Tracking how watershed educational programs affect behavioral change should be improved. 

· Businesses should be educated on limiting de-icing salt usage.  

· Aquatic invasive species education and Adopt-a-Drain volunteer programs should be highlighted.  

· Lawmakers should be educated on water quality impacts from development.  

· Homes in the community should be canvassed to spread awareness about water resource topics.  	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: Who is canvassing?  Because I would rather get hit by 10,000 bulls than knock on a strangers door.

· Collaboration with other organizations in the watershed, including the Dakota County Master Gardeners, should be emphasized.  

 

[image: ] 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is a repeat from above.

Implementation Strategies. Each year the Board will review progress made from the Education and Outreach plan and refine education and outreach activities for the coming year. Progress and success of the education and outreach program will be evaluated in multiple ways and will be tailored to the specific audiences. Trends in participation, such as number of website hits, social media followers, and social media activity, and attendance at events, will be useful metrics for gauging the reach of various messages. Another potential source of information is the periodic resident surveys the cities undertake to better understand the needs and desires of their citizens. 

 

The Board will rely on the following and other strategies to implement the program and achieve the Plan’s communication and outreach goals: 

 

· Establish key messages for the coming year, delivery mechanisms, and methods of evaluating outcomes. 

· Engage groups of citizens or other partners such as member cities, Master Water Stewards, Dakota County, and Dakota SWCD as needed to advise the Board and to assist in program development and implementation. 

· Participate with collaborative groups to pool resources to undertake activities in a cost-effective manner, promote interagency cooperation and collaboration, and promote consistency of messages. 

· Use the WMO’s, member cities’, and educational partners’ websites and newsletters, social media, local newspapers and cable TV to share useful information to stakeholders on ways to improve water quality. 

· Prominently display the E-IGHWMO logo on information and outreach items, project and interpretive signs, and other locations to increase visibility. 

· Provide opportunities for the public to learn about and participate in water quality activities. 

· Enhance education opportunities for youth. 

· Provide opportunities for bridge-building between stakeholders with sometimes competing ideas and interests. 

 

 Table 5.1. Education and Outreach Programs, Resources, and Partners.  	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: I can't read this table in its entirety because it is spilling off the page.  Can you realign it so it lines up with the rest of the tables?

		Program Area 

		Action Items 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: At least most of these seem to come from chapter 4. Where language is updated there, it should be updated here as well.

		Partners 



		 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

General Outreach and Messaging 

		· Incorporate flood damage messaging into the communication and outreach plan, emphasizing the importance of effective stormwater management for reducing the impact of runoff volumes on downstream flooding. 

· Develop visual display of local groundwater system to promote understanding and share on the E-IGH website.  

· Promote water conservation, particularly reducing water use for irrigation, implementing Water Smart Yards, and incorporating water reuse tactics in priority groundwater recharge areas listed in the Groundwater Protection Plan by distributing educational pamphlets to fifty community members. 

· Communicate water quality updates each year to the public. Updates may include annual lake water quality trend analyses, metrics on water quality goals, and information on completed improvement projects. Additionally, provide educational messages on water quality topics such as the importance of restricting the surface runoff of household chemicals, yard waste, illicit discharges, and pet waste to lakes within the watershed. Communications may be through city newsletters or WMO outlets such as emails and social media posts. 

· Partner with member cities to encourage efforts for reducing deicing salt use through the design of low salt programs and minimizing the need for deicing salt. 

· Post signage raising awareness of invasive species and/or native landscapes at five popular recreational waterbodies in the watershed. 

· Promote native shoreline vegetation restoration annually through community outreach and education events. Leverage participation by residents who participate in shoreline restoration programs or highlight their stories on the E-IGH WMOE-IGHWMO website. 

· Incorporate education on wetland benefits, function, and watershed stewardship to K-12 students at Eagan Elementary schools each year through in- class education programs, CLIMB, or providing cost share on field trips to local institutionslocations such as the SMM and the Bell Museum.   

· Collaborate with member cities and Dakota County to protect groundwater sources through educational outreach on well sealing practices and value. 

		MN DNR (AIS Signage) 

 

Water Smart Yards 

 

City of Eagan (Water Quality Updates) 

 

CLIMB 

 	Comment by jenna.olson@eaganmn.gov: absolutely not

SMM cience Museum of Minnesota

 

Bell Museum 



Dakota County (Water Resources)



		 

 

Volunteer Programs 

		· Promote the Adopt-a-Drain program to clean out storm drain collection areas of silt and debris throughout the year through annual volunteer recruitment events. 

		Adopt-a-Drain 

 

 



		Community Events 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

		· Address stormwater runoff and groundwater usage reduction through threetwo community outreach events targeted at designing low water use landscapes and irrigation systems and educating the public on reducing irrigation water usage.  

· Provide deicing salt reduction education at two events annually. Outreach may include items such as: information on the impact of salt and chloride on water bodies, distribution of salt cups and information on local efforts to reduce deicing salt use. 

· Raise awareness about impaired aquatic consumption to reduce public health risk of contamination through two fish consumption mercury-focused events or outreach efforts. 

· Incorporate groundwater system and aquifer recharge education into one public education outreach event each year to raise awareness of water conservation and recharge, potentially using a watershed model.  

· Incorporate education on the benefits and functions of wetlands at one event annually and promote community volunteers to participate in the Wetland Health Evaluation Program (WHEP). 

· Host annual public engagement event to educate citizens about healthy lake shorelines, causes of lake algal blooms, aquatic macrophytes and macroinvertebrates that are indicators of aquatic ecosystem health, and other water quality topics. 

· If requested, participate in and provide water quality education at community events such as LakeFfest and the Eagaen Home and Leisure Show. 	Comment by jworkmanjesness@gmail.com: Eagan

· Provide access to the Landscaping for Clean Water program through introduction class, design course, and maintenance workshop. 

· Provide a Lawns ReImaginedReimagined workshop that helps homeowners transition their yards to low-input systems by reducing fertilizer, water use, and mowing frequency. 

		 

WaterSmart Yards 

 

U of Mn Extension 

 

Water Wisely 

 

MetCouncil  

 

EPA WaterSense 

 

MDH (Mercury awareness event) 

 

Dakota County (Groundwater recharge education) 

 

WHEP 

 

Landscaping for Clean Water  

 

Lawns ReImagined 



Dakota County Soil & Water Conservation District (SWCD)



		Partnerships 

		· Partner with DNR and assist in aquatic invasive species education, early detection, and rapid response through threetwo community education program events. 

· Promote chloride impact reduction actions annually each winter for businesses and, residents, and member cities in the watershed through targeted communication with local business owners and property managers, local training events, and website postings. Efforts may host local training sessions and utilize messaging from existing programs such as MPCA Smart Salting and the Dakota County Low Salt No Salt program. 

 

		MN DNR 

  

MPCA Smart Salting 

 

Dakota County Low Salt No Salt 

 

City of Eagan 

 

City of Inver Grove Heights  

 









[bookmark: _Hlk198505733]Cost-Share Program	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Is the WMO running its own cost-share/incentivce program, or is it working through other organization's programs? If the WMO is running its own program, it should be described in the plan, per MR 8410.0105 Subp. 7. Incentive programs to ensure transparency and fair disbursement of WMO dollars (or reference an external, board-approved cost-share policy that will include these criteria). For an example, see PLSLWD's plan, p. 92. However, if you are only cost-sharing through partner programs, then you can use language similar to what's in the LMRWMO plan, p. 130. As written, it looks like the WMO will be doing both its own program and working with partners.



E-IGHWMO will implement projects through a cost-share partnership program to support water quality improvement efforts within the watershed. In order to protect water resources from chloride impacts, E-IGHWMO will provide grant support to local business owners or property managers to aid in deicing salt reduction efforts and the implementation of smart salting programs. E-IGHWMO will also provide grantfinancial and/or technical support to local homeowners to remove or reduceimprove efficiency of home water softeners use.



Additionally, E-IGHWMO will fund smaller stormwater management projects and water quality BMPs through the Landscaping for Clean Water Program. E-IGHWMO will promote water quality BMP projects such as bioinfiltration, infiltration basins, as well as shoreline and wetland native buffers. E-IGHWMO will also support capital improvement projects for groundwater resources by funding the implementation of fivetwo groundwater BMPs such as infiltration, bioswales, or permeable pavements within the watershed. One goal of the Landscaping for Clean Water Program is to help prevent backsliding for lakes that meet or exceed the State of Minnesota’s water quality goalstandardss.



[bookmark: _Toc962802078]Capital Improvement Program



The JPA allows the Board to acquire, operate, construct, and maintain capital improvements included in the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) of its Management Plan. Member cities construct Best Management Practices (BMPs), either as stand-alone capital improvement projects or incorporated into street, highway, and other public improvement projects. Table 5.2 shows the expected costs and funding sources for implementing this Plan, including a Capital Improvement Program (CIP) of capital projects the cities plan to undertake.  



Overall goals for E-IGHWMO involvement in member cities capital improvement projects include partnering on runoff capacity projects, supporting erosion control and stabilization projects, and improving fishing access points. The WMO may assist member cities to acquire funding needed to move forward with water quality and water quality improvement projects. Capital projects are funded 100% by the member cities. E-IGHWMO will assist cities in leveraging grant funding or identifying other funding sources when available.  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Shouldn't the goal be to help implement partner projects that meet the WMO's priorities (and the partner priorities, obviously, or they wouldn't be in their plans)?



The City of Eagan’s Water Resources Capital Improvements Program projects for 2026-2030 areinclude:  	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Reminder that not all of these are eligible for WBIF or competitive CWF funds (e.g. maintenance), if that's what the WMO is hoping to use. If the WMO is planning to use local funds or other sources to help pay for them, great! Otherwise, you could remove ineligible items, if you like.

· City of Eagan Water Quality Cost-Share Partnership Program: $374,500 

· Water Resources Infrastructure Maintenance (small projects fund for repair, replacement, expansion): $318,500 

· Iron-Sand Filtration Systems Maintenance: $139,000 

· Bur Oaks Protection Project (direct-drainage areas): $138,000 

· Fish Lake Alum Treatment System Settling Basin Maintenance: $151,000 

· Alum applications (includes lake bottom sediment – nutrient release analysis to determine if timing is appropriate for alum treatment): Cliff Lake, Schwanz Lake, Hay Lake, North Lake, LeMay Lake, Bald Lake, Bur Oaks Pond, Almquist Lake: $634,500 

· Carlson Lake direct drainage water quality improvements: $171,000 

· Thomas Lake direct-drainage water quality improvements: $210,000 

· Fish Lake direct-drainage water quality improvements: $95,000 

· North Lake direct-drainage water quality improvements: $380,000 

· McCarthy Lake direct-drainage water quality improvements: $681,000 

 

The City of Inver Grove Heights has several Capital Improvement Projects planned between 2026-2030: 

· Tentative 2025 Stormwater Maintenance Operations

The City of Inver Grove Heights has several Capital Improvement Projects planned between 2026-2030: 

· Tentative 2025 Stormwater Maintenance Operations

· Stormwater Maintenance Operations in 2027 (if not impacted by Cliff Road Trail Project) 

· CIP Minor Drainage Improvements in 2027 (if no impacted by Cliff Road Trail Project)

· Alameda Path Minor Drainage Improvements in 2027

· Cliff Road Sediment Maintenance

· Appenine Way Riprap, Sediment, woody removal



MS4 Maintenance Requirements. As regulated MS4s, Eagan and Inver Grove Heights are required to undertake periodic maintenance of BMPs and conveyances such as pond sediment removal projects. Additionally, the cities require periodic replacement of street sweeping and other maintenance equipment. These expenses are also part of the capital improvement program. 

Cities review and revise their CIPs periodically. As part of its annual budget process and ongoing communications with member cities, the E-IGHWMO will request updated CIPs and adjust the Implementation Plan and CIP as necessary in accordance with the Plan Amendment process detailed in Section 4.6, Amendments to the Plan. 



[bookmark: _Toc452302668]Administration Program



Administrative and operational costs for general expenses incurred by the E-IGHWMO are outlined in table 5.2. E-IGHWMO organizational costs include staffing, engineering and consulting services, as well as legal services. Work program costs include annual reporting for activity, finance, and audits, as well as the distribution of an annual newsletter. Additional work program costs include the E-IGHWMO website, board education, and updates to the education and outreach program plan and watershed management plan updates.  



8. Implementation Plan Cost and Funding 	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Unclear where grant match (e.g. 10% for WBIF) will come from.

The estimated cost of implementing this Plan is set forth in Table 5.2 below. The primary source of funding will be assessments from the member cities. The Board may apply for grants to fund special projects or to supplement member cities’ projects or programs. 

The Implementation Table can be viewed in the E-IGHWMO Plan Development “Full Plan Draft 07032025” folder in the file called “Implementation_Table_07032025.xlsx”. 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Ensure that any changes made in the above chapter are also made in the table so that they match. It is also a bit confusing that chapter 4 lists "goals" for some topics and "goals/objectives" for others, while the table just has "objectives". Similarly, chapter 4 has "action items" for some topics and "action items/policies" for others, while the table has "planned action descriptions". This is confusing and should be consistent to make sure readers can follow the plan.



(This page left intentionally blank.)	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Other required elements missing from the implementation section include: Subpart 1. C, the process for evaluating implementation of local water plans and procedures for addressing failure to implement; Subpart 1. D, Procedure to establish an advisory committee or other means of public participation for the purpose of making recommendations on 10-year plan; Subp. 6 An assessment of existing controls within the org's jurisdiction and deficiencies/redundancies (see previous comments about whether cities' standards are sufficient); and descriptions/references/citations/etc. to meet Subp. 6 B. re: Standards/controls.









		5-6

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June 2026 







(This page left intentionally blank.)









		5-11

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June 2026







(This page left intentionally blank.)



		8-2

		Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization

Watershed Management Plan



		

		June 2016August 2025







(This page left intentionally blank.)

[bookmark: _Toc352828605][bookmark: _Toc1829977059]Impact on Local Governments

Following approval and adoption of the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Plan pursuant to Minnesota Statutes 103B, governmental units having land use planning and regulatory responsibility are required by statute to prepare or amend their local water management plans. Local plan content is driven primarily by Minnesota Rules 8410 and must include a capital improvement program and implementation plan to bring the local water management plan into conformance with the Board’s Plan.  The local water management plans must be submitted to the Board and the Metropolitan Council not more than two years before the member city’s Comprehensive Plan is due., that is, between January 1, 2017 and December 2018.



[bookmark: _Toc352828606][bookmark: _Toc592278364]Local Plan Content	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: This is copied from old plan; ensure it's accurate. For example, it refers to policies, rules, and standards in this plan, but there aren't any.



Local water management plans adopted by member cities pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Section 103B.235 shall be consistent with this Watershed Management Plan. Local plans must comply with Minnesota Statutes, Section 103B.235 and Minnesota Rules 8410.0105 regarding local plan content. At a minimum, local water management plans are required to do the following:



· Update the existing and proposed physical environment and land use. Information from previous plans that has not changed may be referenced and summarized but does not have to be repeated. Local plans may adopt sections of this Plan’s Inventory and Condition Assessment by reference unless the city has more recent information, such as revised figures and data.

· Explain how the goals and policies, and rules and standards in this Plan will be implemented at the local level, including any necessary modifications of local ordinances, policies, and practices, and a schedule for their adoption. 

· Show how the member city will take action to achieve the load reductions and other actions identified in and agreed to in any TMDL Implementation Plans, including identifying known upcoming projects including street or highway reconstruction projects that will provide opportunities to include load and volume reduction BMPs. 

· Update existing or potential water resource related problems and identify nonstructural, programmatic, and structural solutions, including those program elements detailed in Minnesota Rules 8410.0100, Subp. 1 through 6.

· Set forth an implementation program including a description of adoption or amendment of official controls and local policies necessary to implement the Rules and Standards; programs; policies; and a capital improvement plan.



[bookmark: _Toc352828607][bookmark: _Toc1077933683]Local Plan Review



Each member city shall submit its proposed local water management plan to the Board and the Metropolitan Council for review before adoption by its governing body. The Metropolitan Council review period is 45 days and the Board review period is 60 days after plan receipt.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Also county, because it has a GW plan. See 103B.235 Subd. 3



The Board recognizes that the member cities may have updated their Local Plans within the last five years, and those Plans may need only minor revisions to bring into conformance with this Plan. 



(This page intentionally blank.)





[bookmark: _Toc1601179840]Amendments to the Plan



This Watershed Management Plan provides direction for the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights management activities through the year 2025.  The Board may initiate amendments to the Plan at any time based on new requirements, policies, programs, or practices.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Again, this section was copied/pasted from old plan. Please ensure it's accurate. This and parts of the next paragraph are not accurate.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: What about emerging concerns? New data? There may be other reasons why the Board may wish to initiate an amendment.



The Board will annually review the Implementation Plan and Capital Improvements Program (CIP), which may require future minor or major plan amendments. The Plan provides annual estimates for the period 2016-2020, and general programs, projects and costs for 2021-2025 activities. One or more future plan amendments may be necessary to amend the Implementation Plan to provide more specificity for the second five years of the Plan.



[bookmark: _Toc352828610][bookmark: _Toc1718563643]Amendment Procedures



All amendments to the Plan except minor amendments shall adhere to the full review and process set forth in Minnesota Statutes 103B.231, and this section. The Board shall adopt proposed major plan amendments upon their approval by the Board of Water and Soil Resources (BWSR) in accordance with Minnesota Statutes 103B.231. The amendment procedure for minor plan amendments shall be in accordance with Minnesota Rules 8410.0140 as such rules now exist or as subsequently amended. 



[bookmark: _Toc352828611][bookmark: _Toc818646332]Form of the Amendment



Unless the entire document is redone, all adopted amendments adopted must be in the form of replacement pages for the Plan, each page of which must conform to the following:



1.	Show deleted text as stricken and new text as underlined.	Comment by anne.sawyer@state.mn.us: Note that 8410.0140 Subp. 4 only requires this for the Draft amendment - the adoped amendment doesn't require this. This can certainly be the WMO's policy, though.

2.	Be renumbered as appropriate.

3.	Include the effective date of the amendment on each page.



(This page intentionally blank.)





[bookmark: _Toc1045468028]References

Bonestroo. 2003. Inver Grove Heights Northwest Area Natural Resources Inventory and Management Plan. ci.inver-grove-heights.mn.us/DocumentView.asp?DID=365 



Bonestroo. 2005, revised 2007. City of Eagan Stormwater Management Plan. cityofeagan.com/images/publicworks/Eng/RSCP_CompStormwater.pdf



Bonestroo. 2007. City of Eagan Water Quality and Wetland Management Plan. cityofeagan.com/images/publicworks/Eng/RSCP_WQ&WetlandPlan.pdf



Bonestroo. 2010. Fish Lake Nutrient Impairment TMDL and Schwanz Lake Nutrient Management Plan. www.pca.state.mn.us/wcpw8a4 



City of Eagan. 2025. Managing Lakes. https://cityofeagan.com/lakes-management



City of Eagan. 2025. Eagan’s Tackle Box & Tips. https://cityofeagan.com/eagans-tips-tackle-box



City of Eagan. 2025. Fishing Eagan. https://cityofeagan.com/fishing 



City of Eagan. 2015b. Wellhead Protection. cityofeagan.com/index.php/public-works-department/utilities/resources-tips/296-wellhead-protection-plan	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Why is this "2015b" when it is the only City of Eagan, 2015 reference?	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: I also cannot find this reference anywhere in the plan.



Dakota County. 2009. Comprehensive Plan. co.dakota.mn.us/Government/Planning/CompPlan/Pages/default.aspx 



Dakota County. 2021. 2020-2030 Dakota County Groundwater Plan. https://www.co.dakota.mn.us/Environment/WaterResources/Groundwater/Pages/groundwater-plan.aspx. 

EOR. 2006. Inver Grove Heights Stormwater Manual: Northwest Area. ci.inver-grove-heights.mn.us/index.aspx?NID=337 



Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). 2015. Flood Map Service Center. msc.fema.gov/portal 



Lower Minnesota River Watershed District (LMRWD). n.d. Gun Club Lake Fens. https://lowermnriverwd.org/resources/fens-spring/gun-club-lake-fens



Minnesota Department of Health (MDH). 2014. Wellhead Protection. health.state.mn.us/divs/eh/water/swp/whp/index.htm 	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: This is an old link, so it does not work. However, based on the format of the link, we do not have an equivalent of this page anymore, even if put in the new MDH weblink format. We don't have a page that is only about wellhead protection. This also isn't cited anywhere in the plan that I can find. Suggest removing. Could cite the general source water protection website when discussing wellhead protection in section 2.4.7: Source Water Protection - MN Dept. of Health.



Minnesota Department of Health (MDH). 2025. Table: Fish consumption guidance updates in some impacted waterbodies by county. https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/fish/docs/eating/specwaters.pdf	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: See comments in section 2.4.1 for more all-encompassing webpage(s) to cite instead

Minnesota Department of Natural Resources (MDNR). 2015. Lakefinder. dnr.state.mn.us/lakefind/index.html 



Minnesota Department of Natural Resources. 2015. Natural Heritage Information System. dnr.state.mn.us/nhnrp/nhis.html 



Minnesota Geospatial Commons. 2015. gisdata.mn.gov/	Comment by abby.shea@state.mn.us: Shouldn't this be 2025? I am assuming new data was downloaded to work on this plan, but am not sure of the reference/where this is cited in the plan (a search for "geospatial" yields no results besides this citation). Recommend revisiting all references.



Minnesota State Climatology Office. 2015. Historical Climate Data Retrieval. climate.umn.edu/doc/historical.htm 



Minnesota Pollution Control Agency (MPCA). 2015a.  Minnesota Stormwater Manual. stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php/Main_Page 



MPCA. 2025. What’s in My Neighborhood. https://www.pca.state.mn.us/about-mpca/whats-in-my-neighborhood



MPCA. 220215c. Environmental Data Application (EDA). Surface Water Data. pca.state.mn.us/index.php/data/surface-water.html 



NOAA National Climatic Data Center. 2014. 1981-2010 Normals Data Access.  ncdc.noaa.gov/land-based-station-data/climate-normals/1981-2010-normals-data 



UMN Geological Survey. 2023. C-57, Geologic Atlas of Dakota County, Minnesota. https://conservancy.umn.edu/browse/type?startsWith=Report 



USDA NRCS. 2014.  Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Data Base. lib.ncsu.edu/gis/nrcs.html 



USDA NRCS. 2019. Web Soil Survey. websoilsurvey.nrcs.usda.gov/app/ 



Wenck Associates, Inc. 2015. Neighborhood Lakes TMDL and Management Plans. pca.state.mn.us/wcpw8a4 



WSB. 2014. City of Inver Grove Heights Third Generation Water Resources Management Plan. ci.inver-grove-heights.mn.us/index.aspx?nid=185



image1.jpeg

(Y U Rt L D"‘
L - . o
o\ 1& \
A ' AEE R 4
\\\ts\ IS 3 @ ' = ;5?
i“’)' W > . ;
LA 5 e
= o i L 2
= / 2 ,0 .
I'£ . 'R [N o s,
i ' ] \‘ 2’ & A4 “‘- *
Flol. Pafbac AT
i —
ﬁ . 0
i \.
ER 2 A
’ A s |2 quq‘

N ST -

v

H .
ennepin R

Rt

n







image2.jpeg

A < ¢y

Shanahan
’p Lake"T ¢

Q
-y

[
O'Leary
Fish Lake P2
»
Blackhawk Hurley
‘Lake ‘ Lake >
) ' [ ]
McCarthy La
«
A 22 Moon?'y Lake
* Heine |
"PoTd’ -
i le
> a Carlsoﬁ Qifkiy
ILake
A . Schwanz,
% y : East /o ¥ Lake* Hay:l ake
CIiff, [ Thomas = e
‘ L‘aka & o, (L I
= MeDonoughyyoz. .ake,
Holland] L .
i ’ Lake @ Schulze
o [\ 8 Lake
> -
i £ Gerhardt |~ |Jensen Lakeo’Bnan Lake W Maﬁ‘s%ake
" Lake® - o V-

K i







image3.jpeg

Hydrologic Soil Group
A

I ~o

B

. =0







image4.jpeg

- Big Woods

Brush Prairie

Presettlement Vegetation a4 &
Aspen-Oak Land \ )
| 4 g
26 ' v
> &

&

Oak Openings and Barrens

Wet Prairie







image5.jpeg

Native Plant Communities Sites of Biodiversity Signficance
,/// Mesic Prairie - Outstanding

m Red Oak - Sugar Maple - Basswood Hickory) Forest - High

NN\ Tamarack Swamp - Moderate

Regionally Significant Ecological Areas

- Regional Parks ~
~ 3 S r w Al &







image6.jpeg

=7 Musa 2020 Boundary
Single Family

B Multi Family

- Park, Recreation, Open Space

- Commercial

- Industrial

Institutional
- Transportation

- Agricultural

Undeveloped

- Water

Outside the
2020 MUSA

N -
N %} = | Ancka
s [ Hennepin PR o
Carver ~ ‘ /
» Datota
0 05 1 2 i B
Miles

Figure 2.4. 2020 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed
Source: Metropolitan Council






image7.jpeg

Single Family Residential
[ Multifamily Residential

Rural Residential
I Park, Recreation, Open Space
I Mixed Use
7 commercial
"] Industrial

Institutional
I Transportation

N
W<€>>E /rJ A;w_j
S i ,mmu"‘,‘w X
| CI@_“_,/j ('”\_2
0 05 1 2 - ‘ oo
Miles -

Figure 2.5. 2040 land use in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed
Source: Metropolitan Council






image8.png

City Selected: Eagan (2394526)

Chloride Sources

St







image9.png

City Selected: Inver Grove Heights (2395429)

Chloride Sources

Dust Suppressant: 0% ' Industrial: 0%
235 tons

‘Water Softening: 47 %

2932.69 tons " Winter Maint: 52%

3246.67 tons

Fertlizer: 1%
39.56 tons

® Winter Maint @ Fertilizer @ Water Softening @ Dust Suppressant @ Industrial

smartatingtootcom






image10.jpeg

Recreation Feature

@ Beach

@ Boat Access

Canoe Access
(® Fishing pier

@) shore Fishing

5 R
- 1.

4 .

Blackhawk
Lake

NorthiLake\, Bur OakswRond=7

_%Lea ry

e

Fish Lake - B

2

Miles

| Anoka

Washington
Hennepin g

1" Seott Dakota
”

{

Figure 2.6. Water-based recreation in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.

Source: MN DNR, City of Eagan






image11.jpg

'* T STITRTITRaY v

; Shanahan] .
Lake > A

A Fen

susnns Trout Stream

LeMay North
} Lake;

o S
i & % Kannealy OL{ary
QL vCreek S Fish Lake
AN\ B~ y Blackhawk e
i L Harnack [ ake Hurlt—i'y
i “Creek Lake
: 4 Bald,Lake
P »
i \ McCanlhy
§ N
H .Q Mooney ke
S Lakew:

Heine @ Quigley,
Pond Carlson 'ake

al
Llake Schwanz Lake

3 k[_:ast ‘ Hay Lake
’ Thom aw 'Thomas e
g}l Lake McDonough Holz
Hollanc‘ “Lake i Lakes
Loke | oaed

Schulze
( L'ake; F/tz
Gerhardt Jensenilake, ©Brian Marsh Lake
'ake; I'ake L'ake

s ey o ——
./‘-!






image12.jpg

tke \
YANKEE DOODLE RD\

\=

= \&

:-; Y
Blackhawk® / Fisi (ke 00 0% 3 \;
Lake \

DEERWOOD DR,

)
2
% DIFFLEY RD

Eagan .
Carlson Lake

s 3/

0 RD,63

W,
“OERN g QUN RO i

Holz Lake

= '/

HNNY CAKE

WDREWS RD.

X
Wescorr rD >

N
W %} £ | avoa
S 'Ner\rﬁ,un wn"'z"‘m"
e 1 &
0 05 1 2 LA sn | st
Miles

Figure 2.8. Impaired waters in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.
Source: Minnesota Pollution Control Agency Draft 2024






image13.jpeg

North Léke‘suréks Rond
O'Lea}y‘l_\a ke

]
y
Blackhaik Alum dosing
Lake facility 49
fiish Lake Bald Lake

McCarthy 'Lake

Quigley,_Lake Eagan

Carlson’l.ake Hay’Lake
Cliff llake %E: .
i LP-30
-Thomas:L:ake McBDonough_Lake HoIz Ser
HoIIand Lake Lakel )
Grove
l /_/_/ O'Brien Lake ' Heights
Gehardt Lake (_ ‘ Tz Lak§]

N
W<€%E | Amia
S [ Hennepin R_m:nlwn
oo 1 al.
0 05 1 2 i
Miles r~

Figure 2.9 Eagan Priority Lakes Watersheds
Source: MN DNR, City of Eagan






image14.jpeg

Circular 39

- Seasonally Flooded (Type 1)
- Wet Meadow (Type 2)
- Shallow Marsh (Type 3)
- Deep Marsh (Type 4)

- Shallow Open Water (Type 5) f

- Shrub Swamp (Type 6)
- Wooded Swamp (Type 7)

- Bogs (Type 8)

m—u

9 -
L]
5
L 4 . =

o
%
L

s
i~

P4

.
o0
Py Al 3
e il







image15.jpeg

100-Year Floodplain (1% Chance)
500-Year Floodplain (0.2% Chance)

North Lake\ Bur Oaks:l{\d/

O!Leary/(Lake f;
g 1

Blackhawk: Fish Lake

A

Bald Lake
‘ McCarthy Lake '

?

%\Y,_J’\.

P30(‘

Lake
‘ “ g = Invelr
Fitz L eﬁ( /G rove

l O'Brien Lake / Heights

Gerhardt Lake (- wr ‘
o iy

y »
[, Quigley_Lake Eagan
| @ Sy
= ﬂ.
- »
' Thomas Lake |, Carlson Lake Hay La K ~
cliff Vake o 9 ’
Hollahd Lake MCD°”°“9h el
SKE

N
npe =
CJ!«-:V‘ ‘
0 U035 1 2
Miles

Figure 2.6. Floodplain in the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights watershed.
Source: MN DNR






image16.png

10. The following are the issues the Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization and the two cities
iin the watershed will be tackling in the coming 10 years. Which one is the most important to you?

® Reduce flooding of lakes and ponds 1 -
@ Rediuce flooding of iy streets 1 -
Miimize spread of squati nvasve species
° in lakes. ” B i 3 —
Reduce the smount of osd satused n the —
@ ratershed without compromising public. 4
@ [merove water qualty in the lakes and 13 —
pond
Provide more guidance and assistance to N
@ roperty owners who want to improve thei, "
@ K-12 education on water resources concems 1 -
. 5::%5 education on limiting deicing salt | -
Homeouner outresch o promate wter —
@ conservation, healthy shoreline practices, °
Volunteer programs on water resources -
@ cducation (. aquatic invasive species 1
" -
® Other 1

15






image17.png

EDUCATION AND OUTREACH PROGRAM GOALS

The goal ofthe E-IGHWMO'’s Education & Outreach Program s to engage
people in the community in the protection and improvement of lakes,
wetlands, and groundwater through education, increased water
awareness, and community participation.









categories: 
 

1. Comments that merit changes under scope and we expect Stantec to make/be
incorporated.

2. Comments that merit changes that we agree are not under scope, to be incorporated.
3. Comment that do not merit any revisions per the Administrators opinion (ie. perhaps

comments on incorporating updated geological survey info that are beyond general
mention).

 
We do have time to delay a formal review, but the above requested information will help
determine if that is necessary.
 
Next WMO Meetings:
August 19
October 21
 
There could be room for a special meeting if you feel one is needed.  I know we don’t fully
understand issues are relating to finalizing the formal draft, but can you give an estimated date
for a special meeting that would accommodate the additional time?
 
 
Victoria Ranua
 

Watershed Coordinator  l   Dakota County SWCD 
Administrator via SWCD   l   E-IGHWMO and NCRWMO
Office: (651) 480-7717   l   victoria.ranua@co.dakota.mn.us

4100 220th Street West  l   Farmington, MN 55024   l
  www.dakotaswcd.org

Partners in Land & Water Conservation                  

 

 
From: Tilman, Lisa <Lisa.Tilman@stantec.com> 
Sent: Friday, August 8, 2025 11:24 AM
To: Ranua, Victoria <Victoria.Ranua@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US>
Cc: Spector, Diane <diane.spector@stantec.com>
Subject: Watershed Plan Update

 

WARNING: External email. Please verify sender before opening attachments or
clicking on links.

 

mailto:victoria.ranua@co.dakota.mn.us
https://urldefense.com/v3/__http://www.dakotaswcd.org__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGUVvliwa$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.facebook.com/DakotaSWCD/__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGYb7kM97$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://twitter.com/dakota_swcd__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGZki3icu$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.instagram.com/dakotacounty.soilandwater/__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGZYxjfuR$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https://www.youtube.com/user/DakotaCountySWCD__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!caQV7N8y_jkoTgudHVVbDMxTA5hrCn-BXFmzRJHUFw3nkA6FZtGzKlorz4WPOw-jRMbHj-K1cY_hAwYU0eGNqQAGGa__-TvY$
mailto:Lisa.Tilman@stantec.com
mailto:Victoria.Ranua@CO.DAKOTA.MN.US
mailto:diane.spector@stantec.com


Victoria,
 
I’m writing to start a discussion on two items:
 

1. Draft for Formal Comments at August Meeting: Would you still like to move the plan to formal

review at this time given the extensive comments received? We’re working on addressing all the

informal comments, but many of them are asking for more significant rewrite of the plan and I’m

not sure how comfortable the Board will be approving the Plan for formal review with this many

changes.
 

2. Scope of Work and Cost Updates: The comments received request many changes in the land and

water resources inventory and other sections of the plan that were not initially planned for

significant update. While some comments note simple updates, such as dates we missed, many

ask for more extensive reconsideration and rewriting of the plan. Our initial scope was limited in

order to provide a lower-cost option for the watershed, relying on the current plan as much as

possible and focusing plan updates on issues, goals and actions for the watershed. The scope

noted just six areas of update in the land and water resources inventory.
 
Given the extent of the requested changes, we could put together a cost estimate to address this
additional scope. I believe there may be some additional budget left from the stakeholder input
process that could be transferred to cover at least a portion of this work.

 
I’m out of the office next week, but I’ll check in occasionally to ensure that this is moving forward. Feel
free to coordinate with Diane as needed as well.
 
Thanks and have a good weekend,
Lisa
 
Lisa Tilman, PE
Senior Water Resources Engineer
she/her

Direct: (763) 252-6832
Mobile: (612) 412-0113
lisa.tilman@stantec.com

Upcoming Out of Office: August 8 - 15

Stantec
One Carlson Parkway North, Suite 100, Plymouth MN 55447-4440, United States

With every community, we redefine what's possible.

The content of this email is the confidential property of Stantec and should not be copied,
modified, retransmitted, or used for any purpose except with Stantec's written authorization.
If you are not the intended recipient, please delete all copies and notify us immediately. 
For a list of Stantec’s operating entities with associated license and registration information,
please visit stantec.com.

 

tel:%20(763)%20252-6832
tel:%20(612)%20412-0113
mailto:lisa.tilman@stantec.com
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.stantec.com/en__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!bykmYDvYsPjgBHM-01YlUmrjkH80qr5nvGduPhht4_NRZJNfXLbHaHqqcnizP41h5nF_nvZ_4p01orWivv9dC9VcIhV37YDl$
https://urldefense.com/v3/__https:/www.stantec.com/content/dam/stantec/files/PDFAssets/stantec-operating-entities.pdf__;!!BIBARgmS2vML8OI!bykmYDvYsPjgBHM-01YlUmrjkH80qr5nvGduPhht4_NRZJNfXLbHaHqqcnizP41h5nF_nvZ_4p01orWivv9dC9VcIsXctlFZ$


Note: This email and its attachments may contain information protected by state or
federal law or that may not otherwise be disclosed. If you received this in error, please
notify the sender immediately and delete this email and its attachments from all devices.

 Caution: This email originated from outside of Stantec. Please take extra precaution.

 Attention: Ce courriel provient de l'extérieur de Stantec. Veuillez prendre des
précautions supplémentaires.

 Atención: Este correo electrónico proviene de fuera de Stantec. Por favor, tome
precauciones adicionales.



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



DRAFT

5.1



Landscaping for Clean Water Program 
Final Campaign Report
Feb - May, 2025

P R E S E N T E D B Y  T U N H E I M

5.2.1



Campaign Overview

Campaign Objective: Video Views
Timing: February 2025 - May 2025 
Budget: $5,000

Meta: $3,000
YouTube: $2,000

Audience: 
Zip codes within Dakota County
Age: 28 – 65+ 
Interests Meta: 

Gardening 
Environment 
DIY 
Home Improvement 
Outdoor recreation
Lawn 

Tactics
Meta
YouTube

Interests YouTube: 
Home improvement 
Home renovation 
Homeowners 
Lawn care 
Lawn and garden maintenance 
Home & Garden 
Outdoor activities 



Topline Metrics

Impressions:

667,866
# times ads
were seen

Reach:

137,506
People 

who saw our 
ads

560
Link clicks 

359,936
Views

$5,000
Spent



We ran 6 ads about the Landscaping for Clean Water program.
3 themes with a 40 second and 15 second version of the ad.

Campaign Objective: Video Views
Timing: February 2025 - May 2025 
Budget: $3,000
Ad Themes

Ease of Management
Cost Savings
Environment/Gardening

Impressions (# of times ads seen): 261,381
Reach (# of people reached): 23,602
Views (# of times played at least 15 sec): 246,032
Link Clicks: 465
Cost per view: $0.01
Average watch time: 31 seconds

Meta Overview



Ease of Management 40 second video was the top
performing ad

Views: 131,852
Reach: 14,176

Top headline: "Sign up for a free class"
Top copy: "Looking for something easier to manage
without sacrificing beauty? The Landscaping for Clean
Water program provides hands-on assistance in creating
an aesthetic alternative to traditional lawns. Register
now!"

Meta Top Performing Ad



Meta Insights

Frequency of 11 on Meta Ads is AMAZING! Even with a smaller budget, since we are geotargeting,

our campaign was able to get in front of our audience in an effective way.

High performing campaign according to Meta.

Cost per result $0.01, extremely good result. Meaning a very efficient and effective ad !

40 second ads performing better than 15 second ads. Meta prefers shorter content (15 seconds or

less) so our longer content outperforming the shorter content means it is high quality and

resonating with the community! 

Viewers are watching 75% of the ad without dropping off which is excellent!

On average watching :31 seconds of the video

Ease of management is the theme performing best with environment/gardening a close second

The ad was delivered evenly across age groups.

The ad reached more women, and more women clicked the link than men.

More activity on Facebook than Instagram.



We ran the full 2:15 minute video for the Landscaping for Clean
Water program as a YouTube ad targeted to Dakota County. Plays on
YouTube videos and shorts.

Campaign Objective: Video Views
Timing: February 2025 - May 2025 
Budget: $2,000
Impressions(# of times ad was seen): 406,485
Views(# of 30 sec views): 113,904
Link Clicks: 95
Average Watch Time: 43.1 seconds
CPV: $.02

YouTube Overview 5.15.,5.15.1



 YouTube Insights

While the vertical version on YouTube had a lower average watch time, the horizontal video

had an average of 84.7 second watch time and a 47.73% completion rate. This is excellent,

considering they can skip after 5 - 15 sec, and the video is over 2 minutes long.

The group that saw the ads the most were:  Male 35-44 

Cost per view $.02, meaning a very efficient and effective ad !



Summary of ads



We are running two Meta ads about ease of management. We are
using the same headline and copy variations, but different lengths
of the video: 40 second and 15 second version. 

Headlines Variations: 
Sign up for a free class  
Get $250 towards planting a garden 
Free landscaping class   
Learn landscaping for free 

Copy Variations: 
Looking for something easier to manage without sacrificing
beauty? The Landscaping for Clean Water program
provides hands-on assistance in creating an aesthetic
alternative to traditional lawns. Register now! 
Tired of mowing? Transform your outdoor space into a low
maintenance, beautiful yard. Our experts at Dakota County
SWCD will guide you every step of the way. 
Free landscaping courses are available to transform your
yard into a low maintenance, beautiful space. Plus, you get
$250 to spend on your garden! 

Ease of management ads

https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F40sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FCutdown%5FFINAL%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Eddf689b0%2D8d7d%2D4c8e%2D8ab1%2D5a645a1f583c
https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F15sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FFinal%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Ede7be3ef%2D241a%2D42c9%2Db913%2D4a2e55ca707f


We are running two Meta ads about cost savings. We are using the
same headline and copy variations, but different lengths of the
video: 40 second and 15 second version. 

Headlines Variations: 
Sign up for a free class  
Get $250 towards planting a garden 
Free landscaping class   
Learn landscaping for free 

Copy Variations: 
Looking to cut your watering bill while beautifying your
yard? Free classes are available to learn how to create
stunning outdoor spaces that save money. Plus, you get
$250 to spend on your garden! Reserve your spot today. 
Learn how to create a stunning outdoor space that saves
you money on your watering bill! Our experts at Dakota
County SWCD will guide you every step of the way and give
you $250 to spend on your garden. Sign up for our free
course. 
Maintaining traditional lawns costs a lot of money. Sign up
for the free Landscaping for Clean Water class and learn
about landscaping practices that save water and money. 

Cost savings ads

https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F40sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FCutdown%5FFINAL%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Eddf689b0%2D8d7d%2D4c8e%2D8ab1%2D5a645a1f583c
https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F15sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FFinal%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Ede7be3ef%2D241a%2D42c9%2Db913%2D4a2e55ca707f


We are running two Meta ads about the environment/gardening.
We are using the same headline and copy variations, but different
lengths of the video: 40 second and 15 second version. 

Headlines Variations: 
Sign up for a free class  
Get $250 towards planting a garden 
Free landscaping class   
Learn landscaping for free 

Copy Variations: 
Create a beautiful garden that is good for the environment
too! We will show you how. We will also give you $250 to
spend on your garden! Sign up for our free class.  
The Landscaping for Clean Water program teaches
residents how to beautify their yard while also protecting
local water quality and providing habitat for pollinators.
Reserve your free spot today!  
Want to turn your garden into a haven for nature? Dakota
County SWCD will teach you how and give you $250 to
spend on your garden. Sign up for our free course today.   

Environment/gardening  ads

https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F40sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FCutdown%5FFINAL%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Eddf689b0%2D8d7d%2D4c8e%2D8ab1%2D5a645a1f583c
https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F16x9%2F15sec%2E%20Lindsey%27s%20a%20Landscaping%20Artist%5FFinal%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2Ede7be3ef%2D241a%2D42c9%2Db913%2D4a2e55ca707f


We ran the full 2:15 minute video for the Landscaping for Clean
Water program as a YouTube ad targeted to Dakota County. 
Headlines Variations: 

Sign up for a free landscaping class 
Call to action:

Sign up

YouTube ad

https://tunheim-my.sharepoint.com/personal/apettingill_tunheim_com/_layouts/15/stream.aspx?id=%2Fpersonal%2Fapettingill%5Ftunheim%5Fcom%2FDocuments%2FClients%2FDakota%20County%2FVideo%2FLandscaping%20for%20Clean%20Water%2F9x16%2FLindsey%27s%20a%20Landscape%20Artist%5FFinal%5F9x16%5FCaptions%2Emp4&referrer=StreamWebApp%2EWeb&referrerScenario=AddressBarCopied%2Eview%2E75226872%2D627c%2D4cfa%2D9240%2D53bf04c51ea2


Thank you!



1 

BOARD AGENDA ITEM REPORT 
MEETING DATE: August 19, 2025 
AGENDA ITEM: 5.3 
PREPARED BY: Victoria Ranua 

AGENDA ITEM: Request for Proposals for Legal Services 
GOAL AREA & OBJECTIVE Meet statutory requirement 

BACKGROUND:  Current contract for legal services was approved on December 20, 2023, and 
expires on October 25, 2025. 

103B.227 WATERSHED MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATIONS.  Subd. 5.Requests for proposals for services. 

A watershed management organization shall at least every two years 
solicit interest proposals for legal, professional, or technical consultant 

services before retaining the services of an attorney or consultant or 
extending an annual services agreement. 

We can publish a request for proposal in a legal newspaper and directly sent it to existing 
provider and other potential providers.  The deadline for submission can be Friday, October 17, 
and then we select a provider at our Tuesday, October 21, 2025 meeting.   

BUDGET IMPACT: None directly. Only if services are needed.  

RECOMMENDED MOTION:  A motion to approve posting a request for proposal for legal 
services.   

5.3



REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS FOR 
LEGAL SERVICES 

FOR THE EAGAN-INVER GROVE HEIGHTS WMO 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Proposals will be received by the Eagan-Inver 
Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization (E-IGHWMO) at the Dakota 
County Soil and Water Conservation District, 4100 220th St W, Suite 102, Farmington, 
MN 55024 until 12:00 noon C.S.T., Friday, October 17, 2025. 

Proposal forms may be requested through the E-IGHWMO Administrator, Victoria 
Ranua, at the Dakota County Soil and Water Conservation District, 4100 220th St W, 
Suite 102, Farmington, MN 55024.  Phone (651) 480-7777; Email: 
victoria.ranua@dakota.co.mn.us. 

The Eagan-Inver Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization reserves the right 
to reject any and all submittals to waive irregularities and informalities therein and 
further reserves the right to select the firms(s) in the best interest of the Eagan-Inver 
Grove Heights Watershed Management Organization. 


	0_Agenda 25 08 19 R
	3.1 Minutes 25 06 17 DRAFT
	3.2 Stantec  Invoice 2416903
	3.2 Stantec Invoice 2428190
	3.2 SWCD Invoice 3471
	3.3 2025 E-IGH Financial Worksheet Rev Exp Summary
	2025

	3.3 2025 E-IGH Financial Worksheet Balance Sheet
	2025

	5.1 2024 Audit Review
	5.2.1 Final LCW Campaign Update
	5.3 RFP Legal Services Memo
	5.3 RFP Legal Services
	4.0 Watershed Plan Update Memo and Attachment.pdf
	4.0 Watershed Plan Update
	4.0 Watershed Plan Update Attachment




